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TRANSLATION FROM THE SPANISH ORIGINAL REPORT ON 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS  

 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of 

Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries 
 

(Thousands of Mexican pesos) 
 
Qualified opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries 
(“the Company”), which include the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2020 
and 2019, and the consolidated statements of income, other comprehensive income, changes in 
Stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the explanatory notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, except for the matter described in the “Basis for qualified opinion" section, the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Basis for qualified opinion 
 
1. As stated by Company Management in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the following 

events occurred in the year ended December 31, 2020: 
 

 On June 30, 2020, Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A., Institucion de Banca Multiple (“Banco Ahorro Famsa” 
or “BAF”) was notified by the National Banking and Securities Commission (“Spanish initials 
“CNBV”) of the revocation of its license to operate as a Full Service Banking Institution. From that 
date, the intervention procedure was started for the liquidation of Banco Ahorro Famsa by the 
Institute for the Protection of Bank Savings (“IPAB” Spanish acronym), which generated a loss of 
control and, therefore, the operation of the bank is classified as a discontinued operation, and it 
is subject to valuation and disclosure requirements, in accordance with IFRS 5 in these financial 
statements. 
 

 As of December 31, 2020, the Company has a cumulative deficit of $13,442,769; therefore, it has 
lost an amount that exceeds its capital stock and in accordance with the General Corporate Law 
this produces dissolution, which any interested party may request be declared by the courts. 
Moreover, there is a surplus of current liabilities over current assets of $9,943,708. 

 

 The revocation of license of Banco Famsa and the COVID-19 pandemic gave rise to liquidity 
problems that were conducive to defaults on payments of the obligations set forth in the contracts 
with financial institutions, the default of payment on the Senior Notes GFAMSA 2020 and Senior 
Note GFAMSA 2024, in the amounts of $5,976,920, $1,770,462, and $1,557,325, thousands of 
Mexican pesos, respectively. 

 
 
Castillo Miranda y Compañía, S.C. (BDO México) es una sociedad civil mexicana de contadores públicos y consultores de empresas, miembro de BDO International Limited, una 
Compañía del Reino Unido limitada por garantía, y forma parte de la red internacional de firmas independientes de BDO. 

 

Tel: + (81) 8262-0800 
www.bdomexico.com 

Castillo Miranda y Compañía, S. C. 
Privada Savotino 101 
Esquina Ave. Manuel Gómez Morín 
Colonia del Valle, CP 66220 
San Pedro Garza García, N.L. 
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 Due to the effects arising from what was described above, Management filed a voluntary petition 
for bankruptcy in accordance with the Commercial Insolvency Law (Ley de Concursos Mercantiles 
in Spanish) for the holding company Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and the subsidiary Famsa 
México, S.A. de C.V., as well as the petition under Chapter 15 of the United States Bankruptcy 
Code for the subsidiary Famsa, Inc. 

 
These circumstances indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that can raise substantial doubts 
as to the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and 
they do not include those adjustments in the determination of estimates of assets or provisions for 
liabilities that could be necessary in the event that the Company should not be able to continue in 
operation. Management's plans for offsetting the adverse effects arising from the matters described 
above are described in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.  

 
2. On the other hand, due to the revocation of the license of Banco Ahorro Famsa, which is described in 

point 1 above, Grupo Famsa Management no longer has access to the accounting records and financial 
information of that Institution; therefore, it was not possible for us auditing the financial information 
of Banco Ahorro Famsa for the 6-months period ended June 30, 2020, which includes a net loss for the 
period amounting to ($722,411), which forms part of the discontinued operation presented in the 
consolidated statement of operations. 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements" section of this report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Mexican Institute of Public 
Accountants (IMCP Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with IMCP 
code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our qualified audit opinion. 
 

Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are matters that, which, according to our professional judgment, have been more 
significant in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters have 
been addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion on them, and we do not express a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Estimation for impairment of the credit portfolio (note 8 to the consolidated financial statements) 
 
The estimation for impairment of the credit portfolio as of December 31, 2020 amounts to $1,450,206 and 
represents 41% of the accounts receivable. 
 
The Company considers for the estimation for impairment of its portfolio, the principle of expected loss in 
accordance with the requirements of applicable international standards. 
 
The allowance for credit portfolio impairment determined by the Company considers the three-credit risk, 
exposure stages required by the respective standard, the probability of default at 12 months as well as over 
the remaining life of the asset, significant increase factors, recovery, severity, among other things. 
 
  



 

Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
Table of contents 
December 31, 2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011 

Page 3 

 
 
 
This matter is considered a key audit issue because of the judgment involved, the type of industry and 
economic sector in which the Company conducts its operations and the risk involved in the appropriate 
book allowance and statistical of expected credit losses. 

 
Our audit procedures for this key audit matter, among other things, included the following: 
 

 Bases corresponding to the Company's portfolios subject to provisions for impairment were obtained 
and the inputs used were validated to corroborate the book value according to its component. 
 

 The completeness, integrity, and existence of the Company's credit portfolio was tested for the period 
ended as of December 31, 2020. 
 

In order to validate the procedures mentioned above, we relied on our financial valuation specialists. 

 

Other matters 
 
The recent outbreak of coronavirus has had an adverse effect on the Company's business. The pandemic 
generated an unprecedented effect on the economy of Mexico, which has generated significant 
uncertainties, among other things, an adverse effect of the pandemic on the economy, as well as on the 
partners of the supply chain and customers. The effects that this pandemic had on the Company are 
described in note 1.6 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Other information “Information other than the consolidated financial statements and corresponding 
audit report” 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information consists of the information 
included in the annual report on the Mexican Stock Exchange (BMV - as per its initials in Spanish), but it 
neither includes the consolidated financial statements nor our corresponding audit report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not 
express any form of conclusion that provides a degree of assurance thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read and 
consider the other information and upon doing it, consider if there is any material incongruence between 
the other information and the consolidated financial statements or the knowledge obtained by us in the 
audit or if it seems that there is a material misstatement in the other information due to another reason. 
If, based on the work that we have carried out, we conclude that it exists a material misstatement in this 
other information; we are bound to report it to those responsible for the governance of the Company. We 
have nothing to report on this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 
statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with corporate Governance are responsible of overseeing the Company's financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or taken together, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken based on these 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

 We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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 We also provide those in charge of the Company's governance with a statement that we have met the 
relevant ethical requirements in connection with independence, and communicated all relationships 
and other matters to them that can be reasonably expected to influence our independence and, if 
applicable, the corresponding guarantees. 
 

 Among the matters that have been the subject of communication with those responsible for the 
Company's governance, we determine those that have been most significant in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period and which are, therefore, the key audit 
matters. We describe those matters in our audit report unless legal or regulatory provisions prohibit 
public disclosure of the matter or, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be reported in our report because it can reasonably be expected that the adverse 
consequences thereof would exceed the benefits of public interest. 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been translated into English solely for the convenience of 
readers of this language. In all cases, where there are any disagreements between the English and Spanish 
versions, the Spanish version shall be considered authoritative and controlling. 
 
 
 

 Castillo Miranda y Compañía, S.C. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Luis Ignacio Zárate Gutiérrez 
 
 
San Pedro Garza García, N.L. 
April 30, 2021 
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(Thousands of pesos) 
 December 31 
Asset Note 2020 2019 
Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 6 $ 154,894 $ 3,699,675 
Accounts receivables, net 8  1,891,783  22,362,886 
Recoverable taxes   731,194  635,158 
Other accounts receivable 9  1,001,538  3,222,633 
Inventories, net 10  1,249,096  2,489,941 
Advanced payments   304,649  409,223 
Assets held for sale 11  -  2,482,991 

Total current assets   5,333,154  35,302,507 

Non-current assets: 
Restricted cash 7  -  311,785 
Accounts receivable, net 8  214,196  10,022,649 
Property, leasehold improvements and 
furniture and equipment, net 12  558,386  990,167 
Right-of-use asset 13  5,240,819  6,440,920 
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 14  160,334  504,238 
Guarantee deposits   256,691  327,249 
Other assets 15  30,414  1,145,846 
Deferred income tax 25  -  5,037,376 

Total non-current liabilities   6,460,840  24,780,230 

Total assets  $ 11,793,994 $ 60,082,737 
 
Liabilities and Stockholders' equity (deficit) 
Current liabilities: 
Demand deposits  16   $ 32,679,320 
Short-term debt 17 $ 7,672,402  2,872,171 
Related party debt 17  1,500,000  - 
Suppliers   1,065,959  1,454,856 
Lease liabilities 13  454,683  522,340 
Accounts payables and accrued expenses 18  1,839,442  1,724,747 
Related party liabilities 19  2,623,227  - 
Deferred income from guarantee sales   110,033  259,006 
Income tax payable     11,116   89,399 

Total current liabilities   15,276,862  39,601,839 
 
Non-current liabilities: 
Time deposits  16  -  1,504,448 
Long-term debt 17  132,305  5,475,979 
Subordinated debt 17  -  532,580 
Lease liabilities 13  5,316,119  6,199,367 
Other liabilities 1.7  4,209,066  - 
Deferred income from guarantee sales   92,745  232,828 
Employee benefits 20  208,381  235,910 

Total non-current liabilities   9,958,616  14,181,112 

Total liabilities   25,235,478 _ 53,782,951 
 
Stockholders' equity (deficit): 
Capital stock 21  1,699,214  1,699,614 
Additional paid-in capital   3,754,460  3,759,260 
Accumulated results (deficit)   19,858,548  19,662 
Reserve for repurchase of shares   274,111  269,308 
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment   687,994  466,257 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) attributable to shareholders   (13,442,769)  6,214,101 
Non-controlling interest   1,285  85,685 

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) attributable to shareholders   (13,441,484)  6,299,786 
Contingencies and compromises 28 and 29 
Subsequent events 30     

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)  $ 11,793,994 $ 60,082,737 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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(Thousands of pesos) 
 
 December 31 
 Note 2020 2019 
 
Net sales 27 $ 6,068,141 $ 13,693,424 
Interest earned from customers 27  506,412  512,834 

Total revenues   6,574,553  14,206,258 
 
Cost of sales 22  (5,381,728)  (7,518,185) 

Gross profit   1,192,825  6,688,073 
 
Operating expenses 22  (4,229,739)  (5,342,470) 
Other income, net 23  64,510  178,254 

   (4,165,229)  (5,164,216) 

Operating (loss) income   (2,972,404)  1,523,857 
 
Financial expenses 24  (1,708,339)  (1,522,199) 
Financial income 24  152,464  367,559 

Financial result, net   (1,555,875)  (1,154,640) 

(Loss) profit before income tax   (4,528,279)  369,217 
 
Income tax 25  (3,471,907)  824,552 

(Loss) income from continuing operations   (8,000,186)  1,193,769 
Loss on discontinued operations 26  (11,856,844)  (703,838) 
 
Consolidated net (loss) income  ($ 19,857,030) $ 489,931 
 
Net (loss) income attributable to: 
Controlling interest  ($ 19,859,308) $ 486,885 
Non-controlling interest   2,278  3,046 

Consolidated net (loss) income  ($ 19,857,030) $ 489,931 
 
Basic and dilutes income (loss) per share attributable 
to controlling interest, in Mexican pesos:  ($ 35.40)  $ 0.87 
 
Number of shares outstanding 21  559,652,761  559,852,761 
 
Weighted average of ordinary shares   559,802,761 560,907,043 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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(Thousands of pesos) 
 
 December 31: 
 Note 2020 2019 
 
Consolidated net (loss) income  ($ 19,857,030) $ 489,931 
 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes:  
 
Items that will be reclassified to statement of income:  
Actuarial (losses) gains 20  (18,902)  2,705 
 
Items that will be reclassified to the statement of income:  
Effect of exchange of foreign entities   221,737  (161,660) 

Consolidated comprehensive (loss) income  ($ 19,654,195) $ 330,976 
 
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to: 
Controlling interest  ($ 19,656,473) $ 327,930 
Non-controlling interest   2,278  3,046 

Comprehensive (loss) income for the year  ($ 19,654,195) $ 330,976 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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(Thousands of pesos) 

 
      Exchange Total (deficit) 
     Reserve effect stockholders’ equity  Total 
   Additional  for of attributable to the  (deficit) 
  Capital paid-in  Retained  stock foreign owners of Minority stockholders’ 
 Note stock capital earnings repurchases entities the holding company interest equity 
 
Balances as of January 1, 2019  $ 1,702,539 $ 3,794,363 ($ 469,928) $ 241,457 $ 627,917 $ 5,896,348 $ 82,639 $ 5,978,987 
 
Repurchase of shares    (2,925)  (35,103)    27,851    (10,177)    (10,177) 
Income for the year   -  -  486,885      486,885  3,046  489,931 
Other comprehensive income (loss)    -  -  2,705    (161,660)  (158,955)    (158,955) 
 
Balances as of December 31, 2019 21  1,699,614  3,759,260  19,662  269,308  466,257  6,214,101  85,685  6,299,786 
 
Repurchase of shares    (400)  (4,800)    4,803    (397)    (397) 
Other movements                (86,678)  (86,678) 
(Loss) income for the year       (19,859,308)      (19,859,308)  2,278  (19,857,030) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)        (18,902)    221,737  202,835    202,835 
 
Balances as of December 31, 2020 21 $ 1,699,214 $ 3,754,460 ($ 19,858,548) $ 274,111 $ 687,994 ($13,442,769) $ 1,285 ($ 13,441,484) 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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(Thousands of pesos) 
  December 31 
 Note 2020 2019 

Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net consolidated (loss) income  ($ 19,857,030) $ 489,931 
Adjustments for: 
Discontinued operations    11,856,844  703,838 
Depreciation and amortization 22  582,216  112,483 
Right-of-use asset depreciation   656,050  661,401 
Impairment of receivables from affiliated companies 22  1,718,287 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  22  389,764  397,273 
Allowance for obsolete inventories 10  1,088  6,764 
Employee benefits  22  75,468  16,406 
Accrued interest of rights to collect from related parties  24  -  (140,732) 
Gain on sale of property, leasehold improvements, 
furniture and equipment 23  (2,617)  (272,521) 
Gain on sale of assets held for sale   -  (241,158) 
Incremental costs of obtaining contracts 15  -  (1,159,920) 
Loan placement costs 17  20,918  13,308 
Interest income 24  (152,464)  (120,669) 
Interest expenses 24  932,125  1,037,695 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 24  653,509  484,504 
Exchange loss (gain)   170,124  (302,586) 
Taxes 25  3,471,907  (824,552) 

Subtotal   516,189  861,465 

Changes in: 
Inventories   1,239,757  269,317 
Accounts receivables   136,744  1,788,056 
Collection rights from related parties    -  208,850 
Interest paid to bank depositors   -  (2,427,244) 
Demand deposits and time deposits   (750,877)  3,465,955 
(Decrease) increase in other working capital accounts   (976,544)  307,777 

Net cash from operating activities    165,269    4,474,176 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Interest received   152,464  120,669 
Acquisition of property, leasehold improvements, 
furniture and equipment 12  (9,812)  (76,701) 
Acquisition of intangible assets 14  (4,210)  (128,977) 
Proceeds from sale of property, leasehold improvements, 
furniture and equipment   57,318  288,345 
Proceeds from sale of assets classified as held for sale   -  241,158 
Related parties   53,085  472,052 
Other assets and guarantee deposits   74,120  (179,693) 
Cash flows from the loss of control of subsidiaries   (1,779,131)  - 

Net cash from investing activities   (1,562,336)  (207,251) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds from current and non-current debt 17  596,153  2,680,258 
Payments of current and non-current debt 17  (1,346,753)  (2,465,214) 
Payment of lease liabilities 13  (789,930)  (950,468) 
Interest paid   (611,527)  (1,364,924) 
Repurchase of shares, net   (397)  (10,177) 

Net cash from financing activities    (2,152,454)  (2,110,525) 

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (3,549,521)  2,156,400 

Adjustments to cash flow as result of changes in exchange rates    4,740   2,478 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6  3,699,675  1,540,797 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6 $ 154,894 $ 3,699,675 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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(Amounts stated in Mexican pesos, except as otherwise indicated) 

 
 
Note 1 - Reporting entity and relevant events: 
 
Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries “Famsa”, the “Company” or “Grupo Famsa” was incorporated in 
the Mexican United States as a corporation, whose shares are traded in the Mexican Stock Exchange and are 
listed under the symbol GFAMSA. The address of the Company is Ave. Pino Suárez No. 1202 Nte., Zona Centro, 
Monterrey, Nuevo León.   
 
The Company is controlled by a trust whose beneficiaries are the Garza Valdéz family.   
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Company” and individually “Company Entities”). 
 
Grupo FAMSA, through its subsidiaries, is mainly engaged in wholesale and retail sales to the general public of 
consumer products such as furniture, appliances, electronics, clothing and footwear, and so on, as well as 
providing financing to customers. 
 
Relevant events 
 
1. Discontinued operation 
 

Pursuant to official letter P329/2020, dated June 30, 2020, Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A., Institucion de 
Banca Multiple was notified by the National Banking and Securities Commission (“Spanish initials CNBV”) 
of the revocation of its license to operate as a Full Service Banking institution. It was the result of various 
supervision actions and special inspection of Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A. by the CNBV. Pursuant thereto, the 
Commission, in its opinion, determined breaches that significantly impacted the regulatory capital of the 
Bank. The impacts were generated primarily by related party transactions that exceeded the permitted 
limits. The foregoing occurred in a framework of differences between Banco Ahorro Famsa and the CNBV, 
on the calculations and argumentations related mainly to the levels of capitalization of Banco Ahorro 
Famsa, in spite of the motions filed by Banco Ahorro Famsa in which it manifested its disagreement.  
 
On effective date July 1, 2020, the takeover procedure started for the liquidation of Banco Ahorro Famsa by 
the Institute for the Protection of Bank Savings (“IPAB” - as per its initials in Spanish).  
 
Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A., Institución de Banca Múltiple, in liquidation (BAFEL), was a significant 
component for Grupo Famsa up to June 30, 2020. At that date, the balance of stockholders’ equity 
approximates $14,000,000, valued under International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), whose 
realization could represents an uncertainty.  At June 30, 2020, credit sales generated by this component 
account for approximately 87% of the total sales in Mexico. The sales in Mexico represent 91% of the total 
consolidated sales.  
 
According to the analysis performed by the Management of Grupo Famsa, on June 30, 2020, occur a loss 
control event due to the Banco Ahorro Famsa´s license revocation by the National Banking and Securities 
Commission (“CNBV” - as per its initials in Spanish), and considering that the Bank represents a division or 
significant component of the operations of Grupo FAMSA, on June 30, the operation of the Bank is 
classified as a discontinued operation, and it is subject to valuation and disclosure requirements, in 
accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held For Sale and Discontinued Operations”.  See Note 26. 
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2. Grupo Famsa’s Concurso Mercantil Voluntary Filing 

 
Derived from the financial effects generated mainly by the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as by the recent 
disincorporation of the financial institution Banco Ahorro Famsa, Institucion de Banca Multiple due to the 
revocation of its license, the financial position of Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C. V. was severely affected. These 
events gave rise to liquidity problems which, in turn, led to defaults on payments of its financial obligations. 
For that reason, the Company’s Management decided to request the approval of its shareholders through a 
General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting held last August 5, 2020, to file an application for voluntary 
“Concurso Mercantil” petition in the terms and for the effects provided for in the “Ley de Concursos 
Mercantiles (Commercial Bankruptcy Law). That application was filed on August 6, 2020. On the same 
date, the application for protection under the Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code of the United States was 
submitted by the company, with the purpose of protects its assets located in that country. 
 
On August 12, 2020, the application under Chapter 15 in the United States Bankruptcy Code was admitted 
by the competent authorities’ courts, who also granted injunctive reliefs to prevent of any judicial, 
administrative or any other action or process against Grupo Famsa or its assets located in the United States.  
 
Subsequently, on August 24, 2020, the request for the declaration of “Concurso Mercantil” filed by the 
Company was admitted to procedure, and consequently the authority decreed the imposition of injunctive 
reliefs that were also requested by the company. These reliefs were requested in order to not put on risk the 
viability of the company, as well as to ensure the protection of the bankruptcy estate and the creditors´ 
rights. Likewise, the authority also filed a request to the Federal Institute of “Concurso Mercantil” 
Specialists (“IFECOM” - as per its initials in Spanish) to appoint a designated Inspector who will assess the 
company's situation. 
 
On September 14th, 2020, began the Inspector’s visit at the Company's offices, who requested necessary 
data in order to issue his corresponding judgement 
 
In addition, on September 16, 2020, the United States court recognized the “Concurso Mercantil” 
Proceeding as a foreign proceeding, in accordance with sections 1515 and 1517 of the Bankruptcy Code for 
Grupo Famsa and its assets in that country, as well as it maintained the decision to continue to grant 
provisional injunctive reliefs. 
 
On October 13th, 2020, the Inspector concluded the Company´s visit and presented his opinion to the 
Second District Court for Civil and Labor Matters in the State of Nuevo Leon. The judgement posted that as 
result of the reviewed information, the 95% of the total financial obligations, had a maturity of at least 30 
days and therefore the assumptions established based on article 10 of the “Ley de Concursos Mercantiles” 
(Commercial Bankruptcy Law) are updated, therefore the company can be declared in “Concurso 
Mercantil”. On October 1, 2020, the Judge who hears the case issued an agreement, whereby the Opinion 
drafted by the designated Inspector is acknowledged as filed, and gave judgement on October 30, 2020. for 
Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C. V. 
 
On November 6, 2020, the IFECOM appointed the person who will act as a Conciliator for Grupo Famsa, 
S.A.B. de C. V., and the Provisional List of Creditors was filed with the Judge on January 12, 2021. 
Subsequently on January 15, 2021, the Judge handed down an agreement whereby the Provisional List of 
Creditors is acknowledged as filed. 
 
The Company continues on toward with the appointed Conciliator in the “Concurso Mercantil” proceedings 
and in filing the reorganization plan in order for its creditors to evaluate and potentially be able to support 
it. 
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3. Famsa Mexico’s Concurso Mercantil Voluntary Filing 

 
On October 6, 2020, Management made the decision to submit the voluntary petition to “Concurso 
Mercantil” for its operating subsidiary Famsa México S.A. de C.V. on which the stores network operations 
relies, and which in turn, also had a direct impact due to the revocation process and liquidation of Banco 
Ahorro Famsa, since it was not able to perform the sales operation volumes derived from credits placed that 
originally came through the financial institution. The application for admission process was served on 
October 16th, 2020, decreeing at the moment, the imposition of provisional injunctive reliefs, which had 
been requested by the entity. Moreover, the authority also filed a request to the Federal Institute of 
“Concurso Mercantil” Specialists (“IFECOM” - as per its initials in Spanish), in order to appoint an 
Inspector for the evaluation of the company's situation. 

 
On October 23, 2020, the IFECOM appointed the Inspector, who started the Company´s visit at Famsa 
Mexico´s facilities on October 29, 2020, and who also carried out the necessary information requirements 
to be able to issue its corresponding opinion. On December 7, 2020, the Inspector completed the 
Company´s visit and presented his opinion to the Judge who hears the case, in which demostrate that the 
Company is within the assumptions set forth in Article 10 of the “Ley de Concursos Mercantiles” 
(Commercial Bankruptcy Law) to be able to be declared in “Concurso Mercantil”. 

 
On January 8, 2021, the Judge who hears the case issued an agreement, whereby the Opinion drafted by the 
designated Inspector is acknowledged as filed, and gave judgement for Famsa Mexico, S.A.B. de C. V. 
 
Subsequently, the IFECOM appointed the person who will act as a Conciliator, and received the acceptance 
agreement of its charge on March 12, 2021. 
 
Famsa Mexico will continue on toward in its conciliation stage. 
 

4. Restructuring of Senior Notes 
 

On May 29, 2020, the Company announced the initiation of a restructuring process for only and exclusively 
its “senior notes 7.250%” outstanding, through a solicitation of votes to the Bondholders in order to agree 
on an early reorganization plan, under the jurisdiction of the United States of America. 
 
On June 23, 2020, Grupo Famsa received the voting majority from the Bondholders on the reorganization 
plan of the Senior Notes due June 1, 2020.  In this regard, of the 356 ballots counted, affirmative votes were 
received for approximately 96% of the principal (equivalent to USD$48.6 million) and more than 98% in 
number of holders (equivalent to 351). 
 
In this regard, on June 26, 2020, the Company filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the United 
States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York in 
order to obtain approval of its previously agreed plan with the holders in order to complete the refinancing 
of its outstanding senior notes. 
 
However, last July 14, a petition was filed for voluntary withdrawal of Chapter 11, arising mainly from the 
revocation process of the banking license of Banco Ahorro Famsa S.A., Institucion de Banca Multiple 
(currently in liquidation process), which, in turn, modifies the environment on which the terms and 
conditions of the voting on the proposal of the 2020 Senior Notes refinancing plan rely. The motion for 
withdrawal has been accepted by the court since August 10, 2020. 
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5. Strategic alliances with Crédito Real 
 

Grupo Famsa formalized an initial agreement of terms and conditions with Crédito Real, S.A.B. de C.V., 
SOFOM, E.N.R. on July 23, 2020, in its capacity as financial provider of the total credit products that are 
offered through the stores of the Company.  
 
Since the third quarter of 2020, the company launched the new Famsa credit, which is granted in 
collaboration with the alliance formed with Crédito Real as the funder of customer credits. 

 
6. COVID-19 
 

Given that the magnitude of the impact of the spread of COVID‐19 continues to be very uncertain, since the 
seriousness and duration of the outbreak is not precisely known, various factors such as interruptions in the 
supply chain or the shutdown of a higher number of stores during the contingency could have an adverse 
effect on the business, financial position, performance, and perspectives of the Company. 

 
It is not possible to identify the financial impacts generated by the pandemic since, as discussed above, 
beginning July 1, 2020, Banco Famsa was disincorporated and it was a significant segment of Grupo Famsa. 
 
The scope of the impact of the pandemic on the operating income of the Company will largely depend on the 
future behavior of the pandemic, including the duration of the propagation of the outbreak in Mexico. The 
impact on the financial markets and on consumer confidence is highly uncertain and it cannot be predicted. 
This situation is unprecedented and it is rapidly changing, and additional impacts can arise that we do not 
know at present. 

 
7. Promobien Trust 
 

On March 26, 2020, an irrevocable management and business activity trust agreement Promobien 
N°CIB/3452 (“Promobien Trust”) was entered into between Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A., Institucion de 
Banca Multiple (“BAF”) as Trustor and Primary Beneficiary, Impulsora Promobien, S.A. de C.V. 
(“Impulsora Promobien”) as Trustor and Secondary Beneficiary, and CI Banco, S.A. Institucion de Banca 
Multiple (“CI Banco”) as Trustee. 
 
The purpose of creating the Promobien Trust is to have the Trustee keep the assets that have been 
transferred thereto by the trustors, make the payment for the preponderant business activity, and invest in 
the trust assets in permitted investments, as set forth in the trust agreement, among other things. 
 
The Patrimony of the Promobien Trust is comprised of the assets described below:  

 
(i) The initial contribution by BAFEL amounting to $1,000,000 made on the date the agreement was 

entered into, and additional contributions were subsequently made amounting to $3,250,000. 
 
(ii) The initial contribution by Impulsora Promobien consisting of the “Promobien Preponderant 

Commercial Activity, which is comprised of: (a) the Affiliation agreements; (b) the Service Contracts; 
(c) Payment by Standing Order Agreements; and (d) Promobien's Creditor Claims generated as of the 
signing of the Agreement.  

 
(iii) The liquid assets, which in due course are in the Concentration Account, which are discussed in point 

(i).  
 
(iv) The securities and other assets in which the liquid assets that form part of the Trust Assets are 

invested, as well as their returns.  
 
(v) The returns and fruits generated by the assets and resources that form part of the Trust Assets; and   
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(vi) Any other rights, resources or assets that are contributed by the Trustors or any third party to the Trust 

contribute for compliance with the purposes thereof.   
 

The Trustee paid the total amount of $4,250,000 to Impulsora Promobien for the contribution of the 
“Promobien Preponderant Commercial Activity”. 
 
On August 18, 2020, through its attorney-in-fact liquidator, BAFEL published a call notice to acquire a 
“Package of Current Credit Rights, Past due Credit Rights, Collection Rights originated by Impulsora 
Promobien, S.A. de C.V.”, owned by BAFEL and the first trustee´s rights that BAFEL has in Promobien 
Trust N°CIB/3452, which includes the investment in securities made by BAFEL in that Trust, as well as a 
“Package of Current Credit Rights, Past Due Credit Rights, related with the Mexican Institute of Social 
Security (“IMSS” as per its initials in Spanish)”.   As a result of the call notice, in December 2020, BAFEL 
entered, account receivables and trustee rights assignments contracts with third parties. This assignments 
process are in accordance with clause twenty-two of the irrevocable management and business activity trust 
agreement Promobien N°CIB/3452. 

 
Note 2 - Basis of preparation: 
 
a) Authorization and preparation basis 

 
The consolidated financial statements of Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries have been prepared 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), adopted by public entities in Mexico in accordance with the 
amendments to the Rules for Public Companies and Other Participants in the Mexican Stock Exchange, 
issued by the Mexican National Banking and Securities Commission. 
 
On April 30, 2021, Mr. Luis Gerardo Villarreal Rosales, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Mr. Abelardo 
García Lozano, Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the Company, authorized the issuance of the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements and their notes. 
 
In accordance with the General Corporations Law (LSGM-Spanish acronym) and the Company’s by-laws, 
the stockholders are empowered to modify the consolidated financial statements consolidated after its 
issuance. The accompanying consolidated financial statements will be submitted for approval of the next 
Shareholders Meeting.  
 

b) Basis of measurement 
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the defined benefit 
liabilities to employees and the lease liability, measured at present value, and the following items of the 
consolidated statement of financial position that were measured at fair value or amortized cost: 
 
- Certain financial instruments (fair value); 
- Goodwill (fair value); 
- Long-term trade receivables (amortized cost). 
 

c) Presentation of consolidated statements of income and consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income  
 
The Company presents its costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of income according to their 
function, which allows to know its gross profit margin.  
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The Company presents operating profit as the result of decrease to the revenues and to the other net 
income, the cost of sales and the operating expenses, considering that the operating profit contributes to a 
better understanding of the economic and financial performance of the Company. 
 
"Other income, net" in the consolidated statements of income is mainly comprised of income and expenses 
that are not directly related to the main activities of the Company or that are of an unusual and/or non-
recurring nature, such as sale of assets, income by recovery of claims among others. 
 
The Company decided to present comprehensive income (loss) in two statements: the first statement 
includes only the items that comprise the consolidated net income or loss and it is named “Consolidated 
statement of income” and the second statement from the net result at which the income statements were 
concluded then presents the other comprehensive income. This is denominated "Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income". 
 

d) Presentation of consolidated statements of cash flows 
 
The consolidated statements of cash flows of the Company are presented by using the indirect method; 
except for financing activities which reflect the total loans received and paid in the year. 
 

e) Functional and presentation currency 
 
The Company’s accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Mexican 
pesos (“pesos” or “$”), since it represents the Mexican domestic currency and periodic reports to the 
Mexican Stock Exchange are carried in such currency.  
 
Moreover, to determine the functional currency of each subsidiary of the Company, management assesses 
the economic environment in which it primarily generates and disburses cash. For this, factors related to 
sales, costs, sources of financing and cash flows generated by the operation are considered. 
 
Because of some of the Company’s subsidiaries have identified the dollar as functional currency, the 
financial information has been translated in accordance with the guidance in IAS 21 “Effect of exchange rate 
variations” to consolidate the financial statements, considering the methodology described in note 3.3.  
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the peso/dollar exchange rates were $19.91 and $18.86, respectively. 
Unless otherwise indicated, all financial information presented in pesos has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand. When referring to “U.S.” or “dollars”, we referrer to amounts expressed in thousands of dollars of 
the United States of America, unless otherwise indicated. 
 

f) Use of estimates 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires Management to 
make a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amount of revenues and expenses during the period. 
 
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the useful lives of property, leasehold 
improvements and furniture and equipment, fair values of land and buildings, present value of accounts 
receivable, impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets; valuation allowances for receivables, other 
receivables, inventory, deferred income tax assets, valuation of financial instruments, labor liabilities 
related to defined benefits and contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates and 
assumptions. See Note 5. 
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Note 3 - Significant accounting policies: 
 
The accounting policies indicated below have been applied consistently for the periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements and in the preparation of the consolidated statement of financial position 
under IFRS.  
 
3.1 Basis of consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and those of the 
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Balances and transactions between group entities, 
as well as unrealized income and expenses have been eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealized profits derived from transactions between entities of the Group in which 
there are investments recorded in the accounting under the equity method are eliminated against the 
investment in the proportion of equity of the Company in the subsidiary. Unrealized losses are eliminated 
in the say way as unrealized profits, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
 
a. Subsidiaries 

 
The subsidiaries are all the entities over which Grupo Famsa has control. Grupo Famsa controls an entity 
when it is exposed or has the right to variable returns from its interest in the entity and it is capable of 
affecting the returns through its power over the entity. The subsidiaries are consolidated in full from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Company and up to the date, it loses such control. 
 
The accounting method used by the Company for business combinations is the acquisition method. 
 
Non-controlling interests in income and in the capital of subsidiaries are presented separately in the 
consolidated statements of operations, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes 
in stockholders’ equity, and in the statement of financial position, respectively.  
 
b. Associates 
 
Associates are all entities over which Grupo Famsa has significant influence but not control. Generally, an 
investor must hold between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in an investee for it to be an associate. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are initially recognized at cost.  
On December 21, 2020, Operadora Equuelus, S.A.P.I. de C.V. was incorporated, its main activity consists 
in to grant and receive all types of credits and render all types of services related to the corporate´s 
purpose.  Grupo Famsa has a 50% equity interest in the capital stock of this entity. 

 
3.2 Segment information 
 

Operating segments are defined as the components of a company, engaged in the production and sale of 
goods and services, which are subject to risks and benefits that are different from those associated with 
other business segments.  

 
With respect to the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has operated on the basis of 
business segments.  These segments have been determined by considering the geographical areas.  See 
Note 27. 
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Segment information is presented in a manner consistent with the internal reports provided to the 
operational decision maker. Responsible for allocating resources and evaluating the performance of 
operating segments, it is the CEO who makes strategic decision. 

 
Inter-segment transactions are determined based on prices comparable to those that would be used with or 
between independent parties in transactions comparable to market value.  

  
3.3 Foreign currency 
 

a. Transactions in foreign currency  
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or of valuation when the amounts are revalued. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 
b. Financial statements translation of foreign subsidiaries in foreign currency  

 
The income (loss) and the financial position of Famsa, Inc. and Subsidiaries (which operate in the United 
States of America) are translated from the functional currency into the presentation currency as follows: 

 
- Assets and liabilities are translated into pesos at the closing exchange rate of the consolidated 

statement of financial position; 
 

- Income, costs, and expenses recognized in the consolidated statements of income are translated at the 
average exchange rate of every month of the year (except when this average is not a reasonable 
approximation of the effect arising from translating income (loss) at the exchange rates in effect as of 
the dates of the transactions. In that case, those exchange rates were used) and; 

 
- Stockholders’ equity balances recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position are 

translated at the historical exchange rate. 
 

- Exchange differences arising in the translation were recognized as an item of the comprehensive 
income (loss) in Stockholders’ equity.  

 
3.4 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances, bank deposits and other highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of less than three months with minor risk of changes in value.  

 
  



Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

Page 19 

 
3.5  Restricted cash 
 

Until June 30, 2020, restricted cash represents limited cash in BAFEL and it comprises: a) deposits 
required by monetary regulations with Banxico, which earn a bank funding rate, b) purchased foreign 
currency, whose settlement date is agreed subsequently to the transaction date. 

  
3.6 Financial instruments 
 

i. Recognition and initial measurement 
 

The Company classifies its financial assets as loans (including loan portfolios), accounts receivable, other 
receivables, collection right to related parties, cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
financial assets were acquired. 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Accounts receivable represent amounts owed by customers and they arise from sales of goods or services 
rendered in the regular course of Grupo Famsa operations. Accounts receivable are initially recorded at 
their fair value and subsequently at their amortized cost. 

 
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are recognized within the other long-term assets and are 
amortized at the effective rate in the income of the year within the operating expenses over the same 
accounting period in which the credit that gave them origin is recognized.  
 
ii. Classification and subsequent measurement. 

 
Financial assets 
 
In the initial recognition, a financial asset is measured at amortized cost, fair value with changes in other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI) , or at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition unless the Company changes the business 
model to manage financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day 
of the first reporting period after the change in the financial assets business model. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets the following two conditions and it is not 
designated as FVTPL: 
 

 It is administered within a business model whose objective is to maintain assets to recover the 
contractual cash flows; and 

 Contractual terms are only principal payments and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 
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A financial asset is measured in FVOCI if it meets the following two conditions and it is not designated as 
an FVTPL: 
 

 It is administered within a business model whose objective is achieved through the collection of 
contractual cash flows such as the sale of financial assets; and 

 Contractual terms are only principal payments and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 
 
In the initial recognition of a capital instrument that is not held for trading, under the "other" business 
model, the Company may irrevocably choose to present changes in the fair value of the investment in other 
comprehensive income. This choice is made at a level of each investment. 
 
All financial assets that are not measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above, are measured at 
FVTPL. This measurement category includes all derivative financial instruments. Upon initial recognition, 
the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortized cost or to FVOCI to be measured at FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets: evaluation of the business model 
 
The Company evaluates the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is maintained at the 
portfolio level since this reflects the best way in which the business is managed and information is provided 
to the Company's Management. The information that is considered to evaluate the business model of a 
financial asset includes: 
 

 The policies and objectives established for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. 
They include whether the management strategy focuses on obtaining income from contractual 
interests, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, equalizing the duration of financial assets with 
the duration of any related liability or expected cash outflows or making cash flows through the sale of 
assets; 

 How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's Management; 

 The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets that remain 

within that business model) and how those risks are managed; 

 How to compensate those responsible for the portfolios of financial assets, for example; whether the 
compensation is based on the fair value of the assets under management or the contractual cash flows 
collected; and 

 The frequency, volume, and time of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales 
and expectations about future sales activity. 

 
Financial assets that are held for trading or that are managed and their performance is evaluated at fair 
value are measured at FVTPL. 
  
Financial assets: evaluation of the characteristics of contractual cash flows are only principal and interest 
payments 
 
For purposes of this evaluation, “principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. “Interest” is defined as a consideration for the value of money over time and for the credit risk 
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period and for other risks and basic 
costs of loan (for example, liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 
 
When evaluating whether the contractual cash flows are only principal and interest payments, the 
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes evaluating whether the financial 



Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

Page 21 

asset contains any contractual term that could change the timing or amount of the contractual cash flows 
so that it does not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers the following: 

 

 Contingent events that would change the amount or time of cash flows; 

 Terms that can adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features; 

 Payment and extension features; and 

 Convertibility features. 
 

A prepaid feature is consistent with the characteristics of only principal payments and the prepayment 
amount represents the amounts of the principal and interest pending payment, which may include 
reasonable additional compensation for early termination clauses of the contract.  

 
Financial assets: subsequent measurement 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL: These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
including interest income or dividends, are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost by using the 

effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, 
exchange gains or losses and impairment are recognized in income. Any gain or loss at the time assets 
are derecognized is recognized in income. 

 
Financial liabilities: classification, subsequent measurement  

The Company has recognized the following non-derivative financial liabilities: bank loans, suppliers, 
accounts payable and accrued expenses, which are initially recognized on the date on which the Company 
becomes a part in the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as FVTPL if 
it is held for trading, it is a derivative financial instrument or it is designated as such in the initial 
recognition. Financial liabilities to FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including 
any interest expense, are recognized in the statement of income.  
  
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expenses and exchange gains and losses are recognized in results. Any gain or loss at the time of 
derecognition of financial liabilities is also recognized in profit or loss. 
 
As mentioned in Note 1, Grupo Famsa and some subsidiaries are in “Concurso Mercantil” process, and the 
“Ley de Concursos Mercantiles” (Commercial Bankruptcy Law) in its Article 89 sets forth that as of the 
date on which the “Concurso Mercantil” its been declared, the principal and the unpaid financial charges of 
credits in local currency, without a real guarantee, will no longer bear interest, and they will set in 
Investment Units (UDIs as per its initials in spanish) by using the equivalence of those units made known 
by the Central Bank (Banco de México in Spanish). for that purpose.  The principal and unpaid financial 
charges of the credits in foreign currency, without a real guarantee, regardless of the place where it was 
originally agreed that they would be paid, will no longer bear interest and they will be converted into local 
currency at the exchange rate established to pay obligations denominated in a foreign currency payable in 
the Mexican Republic determined by the Central Bank (Banco de México in Spanish). That amount, in 
turn, will be converted into UDIs. Moreover, credits with a real guarantee, regardless of whether it was 
originally agreed that their payment would be in Mexico or abroad, will be kept in the currency or unit in 
which they are denominated, and they will only bear the ordinary interest stipulated in the contracts, up to 
the value of the assets that guarantee them. 
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iii. Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights of the cash flows of the financial 
asset expire, or transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which 
the Company does not transfer nor substantially retain the risks and benefits of the ownership or control of 
the financial asset. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are canceled or expire. The 
Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the 
modified liability are substantially different, in which case, a new financial liability based on the modified 
terms is recognized at fair value. 
 
Upon derecognizing a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount and the consideration 
paid is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
3.6.1 Offsetting of financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is shown in the statement of financial 
position, when the right to offset the amounts recognized is legally enforceable and there are plans in place 
to settle them on net basis or to realize the asset and pay the liability simultaneously. 
 

3.6.2 Impairment of financial assets 

In the note 5.2.1 critical accounting judgments and estimates (impairment provisions for credit portfolio) 
of the consolidated financial statements, is decribed the Company’s accounting policies related to the 
impairment of financial assets. 
 

3.7 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
 

Trade payables and accrued expenses are obligations to pay on goods or services that have been acquired 
or received in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. 
    

3.8 Other accounts receivables 
 

The Company classifies as other accounts receivable among other aspects: 1) accounts receivable from 
affiliates, 2) credits or advances granted to employees and other persons or companies different from the 
general public, 3) other accounts receivable that come from of your banking operation. If the collection 
rights or recovery of these amounts will be made within 12 months after the end of the year, they are 
classified in the short term, otherwise they are included in the long term at their present value.   

 
3.9 Other assets 
 

The other assets mainly include the costs and expenses associated with the origination of credits. Seeh 
section on costs of obtaining contracts in the revenue recognition policy for more details.   
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3.10 Inventories 
 

Inventories are recognized at cost or at their net realizable value, the lowest. The cost is determined by the 
acquisition cost method.  
 
For the allocation of the unit cost of inventories, the average cost formula is used. 
 
The cost of sales represents the average cost of inventories at the time of sale, increased, where applicable, 
by the reductions in the net realizable value of inventories during the year. 
 
The Company periodically assesses the need to recognize estimates in the value of its inventories due to 
impairment, obsolescence, slow movement and other causes that indicate that the use or realization of the 
items that are part of the inventory will be less than the registered value. When it is concluded that there 
are clear indications of less value in the values of the inventories, the corresponding estimates are 
recorded.  
 

3.11 Asset held for sale 
 
Until June 30, 2020 (dissolution date of BAFEL), assets as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is 
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial 
assets and investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance 
contracts, which are specifically exempt from this requirement. 
 
An impairment loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal assets 
group) to fair value less the costs of sell. A gain is recognized for any subsequent increases in fair value less 
costs to sell of an asset (or disposal assets group), but not in excess of of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognized.  A gain or loss not previously recognized by the date of sale of the non-current asset 
(or disposal group) is recognized on the date of derecognition. 
 
Asset held for sale are not amortized or depreciated while they are classified as held for sale.  

 
3.12 Supplier discounts 
 

In the normal course of its operations, the Company mainly receives two types of support from its 
suppliers: Sell out discounts, which result from the level of sales of corresponding items and advertising 
discounts.  

 
The provisions of discounts for merchandise displacement, are initially recorded as a reduction in the cost 
of goods when the relative products are sold. Discounts for advertising are recognized as a reduction in cost 
of sales once the agreements with the suppliers are formalized and the benefits were earned. 
 

3.13 Property, leasehold improvements and furniture and equipment 
 

i. Recognition and measurement  
 

Property, leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment are recognized at cost. 
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The cost includes expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of these assets and all expenses related to 
the location of the asset in the place and in the conditions necessary for it to operate in the manner 
envisaged by the Administration. 

 
ii. Subsequent disbursements  

 
Costs for extension, remodeling or improvements representing an increase in the capacity and therefore an 
extension of the useful life of the assets are also capitalized. 
 
The book value of the replaced assets is derecognized when replaced, with all effects being taken to the 
consolidated statement of income, in the other income line. 
 
The expenses for maintenance and repairs are charged to the consolidated statement of income in the 
period they are incurred.   
 
Investments in progress represent improvements in stores that are in operation at year end.   

 
iii. Depreciation  

 
Depreciation on the assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

 
Buildings and constructions  33 years 
Furniture and equipment  11 years 
Transportation equipment  5 years 
Computer equipment  4 years 
 
Improvements to leased properties are amortized over the life of the lease or during the life of the 
corresponding improvement, whichever is lower.  
 
Residual values, useful lives and depreciation of assets are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, at the date 
of consolidated statement of financial position. The Company has the policy of not assigning redemption 
values to its assets since the amount recovered from future provisions is not representative of the original 
acquisition value.  

 
3.14 Goodwill and intangible assets 
 

a. Goodwill 
 

This represents the surplus of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
determined at the acquisition date.  
 
They are considered to have an indefinite useful life due to the fact that no legal, regulatory, contractual, 
competitive and economic factors are identified that limit their useful life and are subject to impairment 
tests annually, and at any time when there is an indication of impairment. 

 
Subsequent valuation 
 
Goodwill is valued at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
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b. Systems development and computer software 

 
Intangible assets associated with systems development and computer software programs involve the plan 
or design and the development of a new or substantially improved software or computer systems.  
 
Development costs are capitalized only when the following characteristics are met: they are identifiable, 
provide future economic benefits, and have control over these benefits.  
 
Other development costs that do not meet these criteria and research expenses, as well as maintenance are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income within administrative expenses as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in subsequent 
periods. 
 
Acquired licenses for the use of programs, software and other systems are capitalized at the value of costs 
incurred for the acquisition and preparation for use. 
 
These assets are amortized based on their estimated useful lives or the validity of the license acquired. The 
amortization of licenses and software is recorded in operating expenses in the consolidated statement of 
income.  

 
3.15 Impairment of long-lived assets  
 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill, are not subject to amortization and are 
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.   
 
In assessing the value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted at present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the value of money attributable to the time factor 
and the specific risks to the asset. For the purposes of impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
where they generate identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that are subject to 
impairment penalties are evaluated at each reporting date to identify possible reversals of such 
impairment. 
 

3.16 Demand deposits and time-deposits 
 

Until June 30, 2020 (dissolution date of BAFEL), this item includes demand and term deposits of the 
general public. Interests are recognized in profit or loss as interest expense for bank deposits within the 
cost of sales as they accrue. For those securities placed at a price different from the nominal value, the 
difference between the nominal value of the instrument and the amount of cash received by the same is 
recognized as a deferred charge or credit in the consolidated statement of financial position and is 
amortized under the straight line method against results during the term of the title that gave rise to it. 

 
3.17 Provisions 
 

Provisions represent present obligations from past events where an outflow of economic resources is 
probable.  These provisions have been recognized under the best estimate made by Management. 
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3.18 Income Tax 
 

Taxes on profits include current tax and deferred tax. Taxes on profits caused in the year are determined in 
accordance with the tax regulations in force in the country where each subsidiary operates.  
 
The effect on income from taxes on income recognizes amounts accrued during the year, as well as 
deferred income taxes, determined in accordance with the tax laws applicable to each subsidiary, except 
those corresponding to a business combination, or recognized items directly in stockholders' equity or in 
the comprehensive income account. 
 
Deferred income tax is recorded under the assets and liabilities method, which compares the book and tax 
values of the Company’s  assets and liabilities and recognizes deferred taxes (assets or liabilities) in respect 
of temporary differences between these values. Taxes are not recognized for the following temporary 
differences: the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business acquisition 
and that does not affect the accounting or taxable income, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they are unlikely to be reversed in the foreseeable future. 
In addition, no deferred taxes are recognized for taxable temporary differences derived from the initial 
recognition of goodwill. 
 
Deferred taxes are calculated using the rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they are reversed, based on the laws enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset the tax assets and liabilities caused, and correspond to 
income tax levied by the same tax authority and the same tax entity or different tax entities, but intend to 
liquidate the tax assets and liabilities caused on a net basis or their assets and liabilities materialize 
simultaneously. 
  
A deferred tax asset is recognized for tax loss carryforwards, tax credits, and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which they 
can be applied. Deferred assets are reviewed at the reporting date and reduced to the extent that the 
realization of the corresponding tax benefit is no longer probable. 
 
The statutory rates of the countries where the Company carries out its operations are as follows: 
 
  Country  2020 2019 
    % % 
     
  Mexico  30 30 
  United States  21 21 

 

3.19 Employee benefits 
 

a. Short-term benefits 
 

The Company provides benefits to employees in the short term, which may include wages, salaries, annual 
compensation and bonuses payable within 12 months.  
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b. Seniority premium and Legal Indemnification for Retirement 

 
These are cumulative remunerations that generate future benefits for employees offered by the entity in 
exchange for the employee's current services, whose entitlement is granted to the employee during his/her 
employment relationship and is acquired by the employee and/or his/ her beneficiaries, at the time of 
retirement from the entity and/or at retirement age or another eligibility condition.  
 
The net obligation of the Company corresponding to Seniority Premium and Legal Compensation for 
Retirement is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in the 
current and in prior years. 
 
The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position with respect to the seniority 
premium and Legal Indemnification for Retirement is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at 
the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of defined 
benefit obligations is determined by discounting the estimated cash flows by using the government bond 
yields denominated in the same currency in which the benefits will be paid and which have expiration 
terms approaching the terms of the obligations. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from the adjustments based on the experience and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged or credited to stockholders’ equity in other comprehensive income items in the 
period in which they arise, net of deferred income taxes.  
 
The Company has not plan assets. 
 
c. Employee profit sharing (ESPS) 

 
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that 
takes into consideration the taxable income after certain adjustments. ESPS applies for Mexican entities 
and not for the US entities.  

 
3.20 Stockholders' equity 
 

Common shares are classified as equity. 
 
Capital stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in capital, reserve for repurchase of shares, and retained 
earnings are presented at historical value, modified by the effects of inflation on the financial information 
recognized as of December 31, 1997.  In accordance with the requirements of IAS 29, “Financial reporting 
under hyperinflationary economies”, the Mexican economy is currently in a non-hyperinflationary 
environment, maintaining an accumulated inflation for the last three years under 100% (threshold for 
considering an economy as hyperinflationary); therefore, from January 1, 1998 onwards the Company does 
not recognize the effects of inflation on the financial information. 

 
3.21 Loans  
 

Loans received are initially recognized at their fair value, net of the related costs incurred, and 
subsequently recognized at amortized cost. Any difference between the funds received (net of the related 
costs incurred) and the redeemable value is recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the 
term of the loan using the effective interest rate method.  
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3.22 Revenue recognition 
 

The Company recognizes the income as the control of the good or service in question is transferred to the 
client. The control refers to the ability of the client to direct the use and obtain substantially all the benefits 
of the transferred product. In addition, it also implies that the client has the ability to prevent third parties 
from directing the use and obtain substantially all the benefits of said transferred good, all the above 
conditions are normally fulfilled at the moment in which the goods or services are delivered to the client. 
Net sales reflect the units and services delivered at the list price, net of promotions and discounts. 
 
In accordance with the five-step model established by IFRS 15, the Company recognizes income 
considering the following; the identification of the contract with the client, the identification of 
performance obligations committed to the client, the determination of the amount of consideration to 
which he is entitled, the distribution of said consideration between the different performance obligations 
committed to the client and the recognition of income in the way in which said performance obligations are 
met, that is, at a point of time or through time. 
 
i. Revenue from the sale of products and services 

 
The Company records income from the sale of household appliances, furniture, clothing, electronic items, 
mobile phones, among others, at the moment in which the control of these products is transferred to the 
customer. 

 
In the case of income related to the rendering of services, the Company recognizes the income from 
ordinary activities associated with the rendering of services at the moment in which said services are 
rendered to the client. 
 
ii. Revenue from interests 

 
Interest income from the granting of some type of credit or financing to the Company's customers in which 
interest is generated in favor of the Company is recognized when all the following conditions are met: the 
amount of the interest income can be reasonably valued, it is likely that the economic benefits associated 
with the transaction flow to the Company and as the accrual of the economic benefits is realized over time. 
The accounting recognition of such interest income is carried out at amortized cost through the effective 
interest method, except for the interest from past due loans whose interest income is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income until it is actually collected. 
 
iii. Financing component 

 
When determining the price of the transaction, the Company adjusts the amount of the consideration to 
consider the effects of the value of the money over time, the former applies if the payment term agreed 
by the contract parties (explicitly or implicitly) provides the client a significant benefit of financing in 
the transfer of goods or services to the client. 
 
The Company has chosen the accounting policy established in IFRS 15, a practical file, not disaggregate 
financing components for those sales operations carried out in a period equal to or less than 12 months.  
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iv. Contract costs 

  
 The Company recognizes as an asset the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a client if the 
Company expects to recover said costs. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are the costs 
incurred by an entity to obtain a contract that it would not have incurred if the contract had not been 
obtained. 
 
 The Company recognizes such costs as an expense within the consolidated income statement when the 
income associated with that cost is incurred in a period of twelve months or less. 

 
 An asset recognized as indicated above, is amortized applying an effective rate to the extent that the 
transfer of the goods and / or services to the customer is carried out, in such a way that said asset is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income through its amortization in the same period of time 
in which the respective income is recognized in accounting. 

 
3.23 Leases 
 

Since January 1, 2019, Grupo Famsa evaluates whether a contract is or contains a lease agreement at 
inception of a contract. A lease is defined as an agreement or part of an agreement that conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for a consideration. 
 
Grupo Famsa will recognize a right-of-use asset and the corresponding lease liability with respect to all 
contract in which it is the lessee, except for the application of the exemptions to not to recognize an asset 
and a liability as described above, for lease agreements with a term of less than 12 months (provided that 
they do not contain purchase or term renewal options) and for those agreements where the acquisition of 
an individual asset of the contract was less than USD$5,000 (five thousand dollars). Therefore, payments 
for such leases will continue to be recognized as expenses within operating income. 
 
The Company shall measure the right-of-use asset at cost. The cost of the right-of-use asset shall comprise: 

 
a. The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; 

 
b. Lease payments made at or before the date, less lease incentives received; 

 

c. Initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. 
 

The right-of-use asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful 
life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
 
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
The Company applies IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired.  
 
At the commencement date, the Company shall measure the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments shall be discounted using the incremental 
borrowing rate (“IBR”). The incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that a lessee 
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 
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The methodology to determine the incremental borrowing rate is based on a three-level model: (a) 
reference rate, (b) spread of credit risk and (c) characteristics of the asset. The first two levels consider 
factors such as economic environment, currency, term and the value of the lease, with which the level of 
credit risk is defined. The third level is related to the underlying asset, that is, the level of default risk that 
is mitigated by the lessor, when he has the right to claim the underlying asset. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 

 Fixed lease payments. 

 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured by using the index or 
rate at the commencement date. 
 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position in the 
short and long-term liability, pursuant to its expiration. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the book value to reflect the interest on the lease 
liability (using the effective interest method) and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made. 
 
Grupo Famsa remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset) whenever: 
 

 The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate. 

 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a 
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).  

 A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in 

which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate. 

 Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease 
liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognized as an expense in the period in 
which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “other 
expenses” in the statement of profit or loss. 

 
3.24 Business combinations 
 

When business combinations are concluded, the acquisition method is required to recognize the 
identifiable net assets acquired at fair value, at the date of acquisition; any excess of the consideration paid 
on the identified net assets is recognized as goodwill, which is subject to impairment tests at least once a 
year. On the other hand, any excess of the net assets acquired over the consideration paid is recognized as a 
gain in profit or loss.  
 
To estimate the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the Company uses observable 
market data to the extent in which this is available. When the input data of Level 1 is not available, the 
Company hires an independent qualified appraiser to perform the valuation. Management works closely 
with the independent qualified appraiser to establish the valuation techniques, the premises, the 
appropriate input data and the criteria to be used in the valuation models.  
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3.25 (Loss) income per share 
 

Basic income (loss) per share is calculated dividing the loss attributable to shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Basic earnings per share is 
the same as diluted loss per share because there are no transactions that may potentially dilute the net 
income (loss). 

 
3.26 Uncertain tax positions 
 

Uncertain tax treatments are tax treatments for which there is uncertainty over whether the relevant 
taxation authority will accept the tax treatment under current tax law. In such a circumstance, an entity 
shall recognize and measure its current or deferred tax asset or liability by applying the requirements in 
IAS 12 based on taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates 
determined applying this Interpretation. 
 
In assessing how an uncertain tax treatment affects the determination of the fiscal gain (tax loss), tax 
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, the Company assumes that all the amounts that 
the Authority is entitled to be inspected and that it will have full knowledge of all the information related 
when conducting such inspections. 
 
The Company applied IFRIC 23 on January 1, 2019, considered its professional judgement and the 
prevailing conditions of the tax treatments it has taken at the date of adoption in its different subsidiaries 
and the power of the corresponding authorities to evaluate the fiscal positions held at that date, 
considering the above, no impact was determined in the consolidated financial statements.  

 
3.27 Contingencies 
 

By their nature, contingencies can only be resolved when one or more future events occur or one or more 
uncertain events that are not entirely under the control of the Company do not occur. The evaluation of 
said contingencies requires significantly the exercise of judgments and estimates about the possible 
outcome of those future events. The Company evaluates the probability of loss of litigation and 
contingencies according to the estimates made by its legal advisors. These estimates are reconsidered 
periodically. 

 
3.28 Changes in accounting policies 
 
I. New IFRS adopted 
 

In the current year, the Company has applied a series of modified interpretations issued by the IASB, 
which are mandatory for an accounting period that starts on or after January 1, 2020. The conclusions 
related to their adoption are described below: 

 

 Amendments to IFRS 16, Rent Concessions Related to COVID-19 
 
 The amendments introduce a practical expedient that provides lessees the option not to assess whether 
a rent concession that meets certain conditions is a lease modification. The practical expedient is 
applicable to rent concessions that occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
only if all of the following conditions are met: 
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a. The change in the lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially 

the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change. 
 

b. Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before June 30, 2021; 
and 

 

c. There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 
 
The Company evaluated the modifications to IFRS 16 and determined that the implementation of these 
modifications did not have a significant effect in profit or loss, because the benefits from rental 
concessions derived from the COVID-19 pandemic were not material. 
 
Additionally, the Company has adopted the following amendments, which had no effects in the current 
year: 
 

 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of materiality 

 Amendments  to IFRS 3 - Definition of a business 

 Amendments to IFRS conceptual framework 
 

 II. New standards and interpretation, not in force in the reporting period  
 

As of the authorization date of these financial statements, the Company has not applied the following new 
and revised IFRS issued, but not yet effective for the reporting period. The Company does not expect that 
the adoption of the following standards will have a material impact on the financial statements in future 
periods, considering that they are not of significant applicability:  
 

 Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (1) 

 Amendments  to IAS 16 – Proceeds before Intended Use of Property, Plant and Equipment (1) 

 Amendments  to IAS 37 – Costs of Fulfilling an Onerous contract (1) 

 IFRS 17, Insurance contracts (2) 
 

(1) Effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2022. 
(2) Effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2023. 
 

 Reform of benchmark interest rate (IBOR – Modifications to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4, and IFRS 
16) 
 
Interbank benchmark rates such as LIBOR, EURIBOR and TIBOR, which represent the cost of 
obtaining unsecured funds, have been questioned about their viability as long-term financing 
benchmarks. The changes in the reform to the reference interest rates in its phase 2 refer to the 
modifications of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, requirements for accounting 
coverage and disclosure of financial instruments. These improvements are effective as of January 1, 
2021 with retrospective application, without the need to redo the comparative periods. .  
These improvements are effective beginning January 1, 2021, which are applicable retrospectively, 
without the requirement to redo comparative periods. 
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On the other hand, regarding hedge accounting, the hedge relationships and documentation must 
reflect the modifications to the hedged item, the hedging instrument and the risk to be hedged. 
Hedging relationships must meet all criteria for applying hedge accounting, including effectiveness 
requirements. Finally, regarding disclosures, entities should disclose how they are managing the 
transition to alternative reference rates and the risks that may arise from the transition; in addition, 
they must include quantitative information on financial assets and non-derivative financial liabilities, 
as well as non-derivative financial instruments, that continue under the reference rates subject to the 
reform and the changes that have arisen to the risk management strategy.  
 
The Company is in the process of evaluating the impacts arising from the application of these 
amendments. 

 
Note 4 - Risk management: 

The risk management process refers to the set of objectives, policies, procedures, and actions that are 
implemented to identify, measure, monitor, limit, control, report, and disclose the different types of risk to 
which the Company is exposed. 
 
Those responsible for risk management and their duties are: 
 

 The Board of Directors, whose responsibility is to approve objectives, guidelines, and policies for risk 

management. 
 

 Internal Audit, which is responsible for carrying out all the necessary activities necessary in order to comply 
with the policies defined by the Board of Directors. 

 
The Company has adopted as its main premise carrying out its operations in a conservative framework or profile 
so as to optimize its resources through the implementation of balanced operations between risk and 
performance. 

 
The current strategy arising from the needs to preserve liquidity and profitability, starting with alliances 
established with Credit Real to offer financing to our clients for the acquisition of capital goods and loans 
through payroll deductions. Moreover, the alliance established with Karum, a company in charge of providing 
advanced technological platform that will enable us to preserve the quality in granting and operating in the 
collection of loans placed. 
 
The criteria, policies and procedures adopted by the Company in terms of risk management are based on 
internal policies and applicable standards. 
 
The Company is exposed to diverse market and financial risks. 
 
I.   Market risk 
 

Market risk is defined as the potential loss due to changes in the risk factors that have a bearing on valuation 
or the expected results from lending / borrowing operations, such as interest rates and exchange rates, 
among others. 
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a. Fair value and cash flow risk associated with the interest rate 

 
The interest rate risk is defined as the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  Short-term and long-term loans and debt certificates 
are subject to both fixed and variable interest rates, and expose the Company to the risk of variability in 
interest rates and therefore its cash flows. 
 
Changes in interest rates on long-term debt at fixed rates only affect the results if such debt is 
recognized at fair value. The Company initially recognizes loans from financial institutions and debt 
certificates at fair value and subsequently records them at amortized cost, thus the Company is not 
exposed to interest rate risk related to changes in fair value. 

 
The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to short and long-term loans and 
debt certificates with a variable interest rate. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company was 
subject to the volatility of the variable interest rates, such that, an increase in these rates would result in 
a higher financial cost of the liability. 
 
Based on the Company’s policies, it has not engaged in hedging activities through derivative 
instruments to hedge the interest rate risk for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, 68.4% and 14.2% of the Company’s debt (principal) with financial 
cost was denominated at variable rates (as of December 31, 2020, demand and term deposits are not 
included due to the disincorporation of BAFEL. As of December 31, 2019, demand and term deposits are 
included).   
 
Faced with a hypothetical increase of 100 basis points in interest rates related to bank credit lines and 
debt certificates, and keeping the other variables constant, the Company's financial expenses at as of the 
close of 2019 would be increased in $61 million. 
 

b. Exchange rate risk 
 
The Company's exposure to exchange rate risk refers to risks associated with movements in the 
exchange rate of the Mexican peso with respect to the U.S. Dollar, with the Mexican peso being the 
functional currency of the Company. The Company has an exposure to the exchange risk for its debt 
denominated in dollars. 
 
The exchange rate risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities 
are celebrated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity.   
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, 31.4% and 6.7%, respectively, of the debt with the Company's 
financial cost was denominated in dollars (as of December 31, 2020, demand and term deposits are not 
included due to the disincorporation of BAFEL. As of December 31, 2019, demand and term deposits are 
included).   
 
As of December 31, 2020, a 6% devaluation of the Mexican peso against the U.S. dollar keeping all other 
variables constant, would impact the Company's result by approximately $196 million. 
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II.- Liquidity risk 
 

Cash flow projections are carried out in the operating entities of the Group and the information is 

concentrated by the Company’s Finance Department. The Company’s Finance Department supervises 
the updating of the projections on the liquidity requirements to ensure that there is sufficient cash to 

meet the operating needs and looking for lines of credit that are not arranged in such a way that the 
Group does not breach the limits of the credit or the contractual obligations of any line of credit. These 
projections consider financing plans through debt, compliance with contractual obligations, compliance 

with financial ratios based on the internal financial condition and, if applicable, external regulatory 
requirements or legal requirements, for example, restrictions on the provision of foreign currency.  

 
Cash surpluses held by operating entities and excess balances over the amount required for working 
capital are transferred to the Group Treasury Department. The Group Treasury Department invests 
surplus cash in interest-bearing current accounts, installment deposits, foreign currency deposits and 
negotiable securities, selecting instruments with appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to provide 
sufficient margins based on the aforementioned projections. 
 
Up to June 30, 2020, the balance of highly liquid assets and term deposits represented the main source 
of financing of Grupo Famsa, equivalent to 79% of the balance of the consolidated gross debt (which 
considers short and long-term debt, as well as demand and term deposits).  Those deposits were made 
through BAFEL. 
 
On August 6th, 2020, the Company filed a voluntary request for “Concurso Mercantil” with the 
competent jurisdictional authorities, which was admitted to process, and which was filed in the Second 
District Civil and Labor Court in the State of Nuevo Leon, under File 43/2020/I. On October 30, 2020, 
the Judge who hears the case gave judgement, for the request of “Concursos Mercantil” ; therefore, the 
Company was declared in stage of “Concurso Mercantil”. Due to the foregoing liabilities with a financial 
cost that had a long-term maturity, were reclassified to short-term, since the contractual terms of these 
liabilities are currently being reviewed by the corresponding authorities, in order to establish a 
Reorganization Plan with creditors. See Notes 1 and 17. 
 
The following table lists the contractual maturities of the Company’s debt with financial cost and main 
current liabilities without financial cost according to maturity periods.  The table has been drawn up 
based on undiscounted cash flows from the first date on which the Company may be required to pay.   

 
The table includes principal and interest: 

 

December 31, 2020 

 
0 – 12 

months  

More 
than 1 
year   

 
 

Total 
        
 
Short and long-term debt $ 9,998,707 

 
601,800 

  
10,600,507 

Other related party liabilities  2,623,227  -   2,623,227 
Trades and accounts payable  and 

accrued expenses 
 

2,317,961 
 

- 
  

2,317,961 
        

Total $ 14,939,895  601,800   15,541,695 
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December 31, 2019 

 

0 – 6 
months  

Between 
6 

months 
and 

1 year  

Between 
1 and 2 
years  

More 
than 

2 years  

 
 

Total 
           
Demand and time 
   deposits $ 16,244,832 

 
18,381,135 

 
1,782,221 

 
- 

 
36,408,188 

Short and long-term debt  2,528,510  1,160,234  1,067,099  7,831,481  12,587,324 
Trades and accounts payable and 

accrued expenses 
 

3,179,603 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

3,179,603 
           

Total $ 21,952,945  19,541,369  2,849,320  7,831,481  52,175,115 

 
III.- Credit risk  

 
Credit risk refers to the potential loss from the inability of customers to make all required payments. The 
accounts receivable of the Company represent amounts owed by customers and are generated by sales of 
goods or services in the normal course of operations.  Since the Company's sales are made mostly to the 
general public, there is no risk concentration in a customer or group of customers. 
 
The Company has a risk management system for the credit portfolio, whose main elements include: 1) the 
risk of default and loss, which includes the processes of granting credit, authorization of purchase 
transactions and collection management; 2) operating risk, including security of the information and 
technology infrastructure, and 3) the risk of fraud, comprising the stages of prevention, analysis, detection, 
containment, recovery and solution. 
 
The initial credit limits are calculated on an individual basis by the Company’s systems and are regularly 
monitored by the credit department to adjust them based on customer history.   
 
The Company has processes for reviewing credit quality of its customers for the early identification of 
potential changes in their payment capacity, implementing timely corrective actions and the determination 
of current and potential losses. 
 
The Company continuously monitors its credit portfolio recovery considering several factors including 
historical trends in the aging of the portfolio, history of cancellations and future performance expectations, 
including trends in the unemployment rates. In addition to this analysis, the Company requires that loans 
be secured primarily by the goods sold or by a guarantor, mainly. 
 
To quantify the credit risk of the Mexico commercial portfolio, the Company uses CREDITRISK+, which 
considers both the creditworthiness of counterparties and the exposure of each of the customers. 
CREDITRISK+ models the defaults themselves and is not intended to model or identify any causes 
underlying the defaults. 
 
To quantify the credit risk of the consumer portfolio, for Mexico as well as for the United States of America, 
the Company uses collective assessment models which consider the risk level of debtors, considering their 
possibility of default and the severity of the associated losses. The input data that is considered mainly 
refers to the probabilities of default, in accordance to the creditworthiness of the borrowers. The 
probabilities of defaults are based on the own behavior of the borrower. See note 5.2.1. 
 
The Company is exposed to the following risks, which may have an impact on financial results. 
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 Exchange rate risk  

 
A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) in the MXN / USD exchange rate, as of December 31, 
2020, would have affected the estimate of reserves in the portfolio denominated in foreign currency and 
affected in the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes a 6% increase/decrease in the exchange rate 
and that all the other variables remain constant. 

 

Amounts stated in thousands of pesos  Book value 
 Sensitivity 

+1 MXN  
Sensitivity 

-1 MXN  
      

 
       

December 31, 2020        

        
Portfolio in dollars (USD) $ 2,289,505  2,426,876  2,152,135 
Legal  699,209  741,161  657,256 

 
 Credit Risk  

 
A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the risk level of the portfolio as of December 31, 2020 
would have affected the estimate of the portfolio reserve and affected as shown below. This analysis is 
estimated by stressing the severity of the loss of reserves per portfolio. A 100BP increase/decrease was 
considered in all portfolios. 
 
 
Amounts stated in thousands of pesos 

   
Reserve 

 Sensitivity 
+10BP 

 Sensitivity 
-10BP     

                
December 31, 2020           
       

Credit portfolio  $ (1,450,206)  (1,541,729)  (1,358,683) 
 

IV.- Capital risk 
 
The Company's objective is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, maintaining a financial 
structure that maximizes the return to shareholders. The Company's capital structure includes debt, which 
includes financing contracted via bank loans and issuance of  debt certificates, cash and cash equivalents 
and stockholders’ equity. The Company does not have an established policy to declare dividends. 
 
The Company’s Management annually reviews capital structure when presenting the budget to the Board of 
Directors, which reviews the planned level of debt and ensures that it does not exceed the established limit. 
 
The leverage rate monitored by the Company refers to that established in the issuance of foreign debt held 
abroad. On one hand, there are senior notes amounting to $59.1 million U.S. dollars, due June 1, 2020. On 
the other hand, there are senior notes due December 15, 2024 with a balance in the amount of $80.9 
million dollars. This index considers financial figures under IFRS and is calculated by dividing: debt with 
financial cost (excludes immediate availability and term deposits) between net income (without interest, 
exchange rate, depreciation, amortization, and taxes).  Under the issue of senior notes maturing in 2020, 
the leverage ratio had an established limit of 3.00 after June 2016. In addition, under the issue of senior 
notes due in 2024, the established limit of leverage ratio is 3.25 up to December 15, 2021, and 3.00 
subsequent to that date. In both cases, the leverage ratio could be higher under certain considerations and 
specifications contemplated and agreed with the counterparty, such as the exclusion of currency 
fluctuations, the possibility of contracting additional debts, among others.  
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V.- Fair value estimate 

The financial instruments recorded at their fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position 
are classified on the basis of the manner of obtaining its fair value. 
 
Level 1: fair value derived from prices listed (unadjusted) in active markets for identical liabilities or assets; 
 
Level 2: fair value derived from indicators different from the listed prices included in Level 1, but that 
include indicators that are observable directly to listed prices or indirectly, that is to say, derived from these 
prices, and 
 
Level 3: fair value derived from valuation techniques that include indicators for assets or liabilities that are 
not based on observable market information. 
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the book value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other 
receivables, short-term debt, trade payables, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair 
value, mainly due to the fact that they are short term and to trade receivables which are shown at the 
expected cash flows, except long-term debt, whose fair value is presented in Note 17.  
 
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no transfers between levels 1 and 2.  

 

Note 5 - Critical accounting judgments and estimates: 
 
In the application of the Company's accounting policies described in Note 3, the Company’s Management needs 
to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities.  Estimates 
and assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors deemed pertinent. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly.  Adjustments to the accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period evaluated and in future periods if the evaluation affects the current period and 
subsequent periods. 
 
5.1. Critical accounting judgments 
 
Below are the key judgments, apart from those involving estimates, made by Management in the application of 
the Company’s accounting policies and that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
5.1.1. Revenue recognition, installment sales 
 
Note 3.22 describes the Company's policy for the book entry of installment sales.  The foregoing implies that 
Company management applies its judgment to identify the applicable discount rate to determine the present 
value of installment sales.  To determine discounted flows, the Company uses an imputed interest rate, 
considering the rates that can best be determined between: i) the prevailing rate on the market for a similar 
instrument available for the Company's customers with a similar credit rating; or ii) the interest rate that equals 
the nominal value of the sale, duly discounted at the cash price of the merchandise sold.  
 
When making its judgment, Management considers the interest rates used by the leading financial institutions 
in Mexico to fund programs of installment sale.  
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5.2. Key uncertainty sources in estimates 
 
Following are the key sources of uncertainty in the estimates made at the date of the consolidated statement of 
financial position, and that have a significant risk of resulting in an adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities during the next financial period.  
 
5.2.1. Impairment provision for credit portfolio 
 
The methodology used to determine the expected loss for credit risk is a method that reflects its own 
expectations, in addition, it considers all market information about the credit risk for a particular financial asset 
or similar instruments, when this reasonable and compatible information were considered available without 
effort or disproportionate cost. To measure the expected loss over lifetime of the credits, is necessary to 
incorporate comprehensive credit information, that includes the aging and all the relevant credit information, 
including prospective macroeconomic information. (“Forward looking”, “FL”). 

 
These methodologies stipulate that in estimating the expected loss, the probability of default is evaluated, the 
severity of the loss, the exposure to default, the discount factor and that the result of the multiplication of these 
four factors is the estimate of the expected loss. Which is equal to the amount of reserves that must be 
constituted to face the credit risk. 

 
Possible loss scenarios should be considered, taking into account that the expected credit loss is required to be a 
non-biased weighted probability that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes.  

 
An entity does not need to identify all scenarios, however, it must consider the risk of a credit loss occurring, 
reflecting the probability that it will occur or not, although the probability is very low. 

 
The Company considers the concept of a significant increase in risk is considered to define which loans will be 
estimated an expected credit loss for the next 12 months (Stage 1) and to which lifetime (Stage 2 and Stage 3).  
 
In the Company, the following criteria were defined: 

 
1 It was decided to take the presumption of a significant increase in risk at 30 days of delay (or more than 4 

weeks).  
2 In addition, the PDs (probability of default as defined later in this note) of origination adjusted by FL, will 

be compared with the PDs at the calculation date also adjusted by FL; if the last shows a significant increase 
in risk with respect to the origination, then a significant increase in risk will be considered. 
 

Following is a summary of the credit classification by stage, showing the term for which the impairment is 

estimated according to the classification. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Classification Portfolio aging Term for which impairment is estimated 
Stage 1 From 0 to 29 days past 

due 
12 months after the date of the financial 
statements or the date on which the 
impairment is being calculated . 

Stage 2 From 30 to 89 days past 
due 

Lifetime of the contract 

Stage 3 More than 90 days Lifetime of the contract 
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Currently, the Company has established that an asset is not fulfilled (Stage 3) when it is more than 90 
days past due (14 or more weeks past due). 
 
As mentioned, the approach used to measure the impairment is the expected credit loss ("ECL"), which 
is calculated using the following formula: 
 

                 
 
Where: 
PD - Probability of default. - It is the probability that a client does not comply their obligations. It serves 
as a credit rating measure that is granted to a client to a contract with the objective of estimating his 
preventive reserve. 
LGD - Loss given default. - It is the level of loss once a credit is in default.  
EaD - Exposure to Default Measures the current exposure and future exposures of default during the 
life of the loan. 
D  - Discount factor.- Effective interest rate. 

 
5.2.2. Estimate of useful lives and residual values of property, furniture and equipment 
 
As described in Note 3.13, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of property, 
leasehold improvements and furniture and equipment at the end of each annual period. At December 31, 2020 
it was determined that useful lives and residual values need not be modified since, in the assessment of 
Management, the current useful lives and residual values adequately reflect the economic conditions in the 
Company’s operating environment . 
 
5.2.3. Employee benefits 
 
The present value of the benefits to employees that qualify as defined benefit plans according to the standard, 
are determined on an actuarial basis using a certain number of assumptions. The assumptions used to 
determine the cost (income), net for pensions include the discount rate. Any change in these assumptions will 
have an impact on the book value of pension plan obligations. 
The Company determines the best discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that must be 
used to determine the present value of future estimated cash outflows that are expected to be required to pay off 
pension plan obligations. When determining the best discount rate, the Company considers the interest rates of 
government or corporate bonds of high credit quality (in case there is a deep market) that are denominated in 
the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms of similar maturity or that approach the 
terms of the respective obligations for pension plans.  
 
5.2.4. Estimation of the discount rate to calculate the present value of future minimum lease payments  
 
The Company estimates the discount rate to use in the determination of the lease liability, based on the 
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”).   
 
The Company uses a three-tier model, with which it determines the three elements that comprises the discount 
rate: (i) reference rate, (ii) credit risk component and (iii) adjustment for characteristics of the underlying asset. 
In this model, management also considers its policies and practices to obtain financing, distinguishing between 
the one obtained at the corporate level (that is, the holding company), or at the level of each subsidiary. See 
Note 3.23. 
 
5.2.5. Estimate of the lease term 
 
The Company defines the lease term as the period for which there is a contractual payment commitment, 
considering the non-cancelable period of the contract, as well as the renewal and early termination options that 
are probable to be exercised. The Company participates in lease contracts that do not have a defined non- 
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cancellable term, a defined renewal period (in case it contains a renewal clause), or automatic annual renewals, 
so, to measure the lease liability, it estimates the contracts term considering their contractual rights and 
limitations, their business plan, as well as management’s intentions for the use of the underlying asset. 
Additionally, the Company considers the early termination clauses of its contracts and the probability of 
exercising them, as part of its estimate of the lease term. 
 
Note 6 - Cash and cash equivalents: 

 
Cash and cash equivalents are as follows: 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Petty cash and banks $ 154,460 $ 1,372,825 
Investments  434  2,326,850 

Total $ 154,894 $ 3,699,675 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are managed under a holding to maturity business model to recover the contractual 
cash flows and are measured at amortized cost.  
 
Note 7 - Restricted cash: 
 
As of December 31, 2020, there is no restricted cash due to the disincorporation of BAFEL. 
Restricted cash as of December 31, 2019 consists of restricted liquid assets in Banco Ahorro FAMSA, S.A., 
Institucion de Banca Multiple, for the monetary regulation deposits created with the Central Bank in the 
amount of $311,785 as of those dates, which bear interest at the average bank deposit rate.  
 
The balance of restricted cash is classified as a noncurrent asset in the consolidated statement of financial 
position of the Company, based on the expiration date of the restriction.    
 
Note 8 - Accounts receivables, net: 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
Clients: 
Mexican consumer $ 1,266,680 $ 32,243,671 
Mexican commercial  -  3,867,587 
USA consumer  2,289,505  2,572,714 

  3,556,185  38,683,972 
Less - allowance for doubtful accounts  (1,450,206)  (6,298,437) 

Net $ 2,105,979 $ 32,385,535 
 
Current account receivable $ 1,891,783 $ 22,362,886 
 
Non-current accounts receivable $ 214,196 $ 10,022,649 
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8.1. Movements of the allowance for doubtful accounts: 
 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Opening balance at January 1  ($ 6,298,437) ($ 5,989,339) 
Discontinued operations   4,952,970  (1,486,627) 
Increments  (389,764)  (397,273) 
Applications   285,025   1,574,802 

Ending balance at December 31  ($ 1,450,206) ($ 6,298,437) 

 
8.2. Credit quality and movements of the allowance for doubtful accounts by stages  
 

Below are shown the balances of clients segmented by stages that represent their credit quality, which is 
evaluated with historical information of the default rates of the counterparts and is analyzed depending on 
the stage in which they were classified according to the significant increase criteria defined in note 5.2.1. 
Outstanding balances are presented as required by the calculation of the reserve of accounts receivable. 

 
December 31, 2020 

 From 0 to 
29 days 

From 30 to 89 
days 

More than 90 
days 

Total 

Credit portfolio 885,059 59,260 2,168,429 3,112,748 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 51,822 3,800 1,394,584 1,450,206 
 

December 31, 2019 
 From 0 to 

29 days 
From 30 to 89 

days 
More than 90 

days 
Total 

Credit portfolio 20,626,787 1,429,400 13,627,184 35,683,371 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 799,173  137,997 5,361,267 6,298,437 

 
Note 9 - Other accounts receivable: 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Accounts receivables from affiliated companies (1) $ 1,718,287 $ 1,665,202 
Promobien Trust N°CIB/3452  142,643   
Electronic banking rejections    226,555 
Employee debtors  69,115  728,641 
Money transfer and others    87,827 
General cashier operative    52,579 
Charges to recover    23,364 
Accounts receivables by auction    19,916 
ATMs compensation    5,849 
Fraud prevention    15,582 
Remnants at ATMs    9,824 
Promobien MTC origin     31,736 
Metacard Reversals     2,432 
Other debtors  789,780  353,126 

  2,719,825  3,222,633 
Impairment provision  (1,718,287)  - 

Total $ 1,001,538 $ 3,222,633  
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(1) Receivables from affiliated companies as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consist of current balances with 

the corresponding affiliates.  As of December 31, 2020, a provision was created for receivables from 
affiliated companies due to the uncertainty of their recoverability. 
 

Note 10 - Inventories, net: 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 

Products (*) $ 1,011,287 $ 2,118,619 
Clothes, footwear and jewelry  264,875  396,245 
Merchandise in transit  2,005  3,060 

  1,278,167   2,517,924 

Less estimate for shrinkage and others  (29,071)  (27,983) 

Total $ 1,249,096 $ 2,489,941 
 
 
(*) It includes all types of electro-domestic devices, furniture, electronic items, household appliances, among 

other things. 
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company does not have inventory purchase commitments from its 
suppliers. 
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the products, clothes, footwear, and jewelry, recognized as part of the cost of 
sales, amounted to $3,247,472 and $7,057,627 (note 22), respectively, which include $69,643 and $83,746, 
respectively, as damaged merchandise. 
 
Note 11 – Assets classified as held for sale: 

 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, assets acquired through foreclosure or received as a settlement of debts are 
summarized as follows: 
 
 
 2020 2019 

Property (1) $ - $ 2,482,991 
Less: Impairment provision  -  - 

Total  $ - $ 2,482,991 
 
 
(1) As of September 13, 2019, the real estate assets securing the rights to collect from related parties were totally 
transferred to Banco Famsa in lieu of payment to the balance receivable from operations with related parties 
that the bank had with some Grupo Famsa subsidiaries in the amount of $3,123,000. 
 
At December 31, 2019, real estate was sold for $713,823, recognizing a profit of $241,158 which was recorded in 
the income statement under the heading of “Other income (expenses)". 
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Note 12 - Property, leasehold improvements and furniture and equipment, net: 
 
 
  Buildings Furniture    Improvements 
  and and Leasehold TransportationComputer in 
 Land constructions equipment improvements equipment equipment progress Total 
 
Cost 
Balance as of January 1, 2019 $ 159,791 $ 425,731 $ 869,841 $ 2,794,641 $ 230,432 $ 609,730 $ 14,067 $ 5,104,233 
Additions  114  573  96,487  20,114  12,913  19,126  459  149,786 
Disposals (note 23)  (16,146)  (21,051)  (33,122)  (14,057)  (24,848)  (15,488)   (124,712) 
Exchange rate differences 
of the cost  -  (12,515)  (8,171)  (8,247)  (380)  (726)   (30,039) 
 
Balances as of December 31, 2019  143,759  392,738  925,035  2,792,451  218,117  612,642  14,526  5,099,268 
 
Additions  -  -  2,279  10,524  4,104  5,549  -  22,456 
Disposals (note 23)  -  -  (14,771)  (20,394)  (6,784)  (1,981)   (43,930) 
Discontinued operation  (137,708)  (90,694)  (473,858)  (463,967)  (121,366)  (209,021) (12,677)  (1,509,291) 
Exchange rate differences 
of the cost  -  (17,357)  (10,770)  (10,602)  (724)  (1,003)   (40,456) 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 6,051 $ 319,401 $ 449,455 $2,329,216 $ 94,795 $408,192 $ 1,849 $3,608,959 

 
 
 
  Buildings Furniture    Improvements 
  and and Leasehold TransportationComputer in 
 Land constructions equipment improvements equipment equipment progress Total 
 
Accumulated depreciation 
Balance as of January 1, 2019 $ - $ 135,093 $ 737,193 $ 2,306,849 $ 213,773 $ 591,274 $ - $ 3,984,182 
Depreciation expense  -  13,311  40,315  97,549  18,465  14,606  -  184,246 
Disposals  -  15,248  (5,091)  (9,345)  (22,716)  (13,262)   (35,166) 
Exchange rate differences 
of accumulated depreciation  -  (335)  (8,110)  (13,736)  (1,248)  (732)   (24,161) 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2019   -  163,317  764,307  2,381,317  208,274  591,886  -  4,109,101 
 
Depreciation expense  -  9,271  18,115  37,023  7,455  5,093  -  76,957 
Disposals  (26,798)  (33,429)  (4,830)  (1,985)  -  (67,042) 
Discontinued operation  -  (152,882)  (396,871)  (210,078)  (131,116)  (201,098) -  (1,092,045) 
Exchange rate differences 
of accumulated depreciation  -  (4,590)  10,572  10,581  6,062  977  -  23,602 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2020   -  15,116  369,325  2,185,414  85,845  394,873  -  3,050,573 
 
Book value, net as of  
December 31, 2020 $ 6,051 $304,285 $ 80,130 $ 143,802 $ 8,950 $ 13,319 $ 1,849 $ 558,386 
 
Book value, net as of  
December 31, 2019 $143,759 $ 229,421 $ 160,728 $ 411,134 $ 9,843 $ 20,756 $ 14,526 $ 990,167 

 
 
The depreciation expense is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the caption of operating 
expenses which amount $76,957 and $184,246 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
During the years ended as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, Company’s Management concluded that there were 
not any impairment indicators for its fixed long-lived assets. 
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Note 13 - Leases: 
 
Right-of-use assets 

 
The Company leases a different set of fixed assets including, buildings and transportation equipment. The 
average term of the lease contracts is 5.2 years. 
 
The right-of-use recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2020 and 
2019, is integrated as follows: 
 
  2020 2019 
  Transportation   Transportation 
 Buildings equipment Total Buildings equipment Total 
 
Opening balance $ 6,403,123 $ 37,797 $6,440,920 $ 5,862,565 $ 39,413 $ 5,901,978 
Additions  263,568  1,055  264,623  1,533,101  16,658  1,549,759 
Disposals *  (801,152)  (440)  (801,592)  (294,577)  (4,495)  (299,072) 

Final balance $ 5,865,539 $ 38,412 $ 5,903,951 $ 7,101,089 $ 51,576 $ 7,152,665 
 
Depreciation of the year  (648,445)  (14,687)  (663,132)  (697,966)  (13,779)  (711,745) 

Right-of-use, net $ 5,217,094 $ 23,725 $ 5,240,819 $ 6,403,123 $ 37,797 $ 6,440,920 
 
 
* It includes a balance amounting to $237,964 for the dissolution of BAFEL. See Note 26. 
 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 
 2020 2019 
 
Rent expense for low value leases $  53,092 $ 81,517 
Rent expense for short-term leases $ 112,578 $115,869 
  
Additions to the net book value of the right-of-use for leases as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 amount to 
$264,623 and $1,549,759. 
 
During the year, the Company did not make significant extensions to its lease agreements. 
 
Lease liability 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Current liability $ 454,683 $ 522,340 
  
Non-current liability $ 5,316,119 $ 6,199,367 
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the changes in the lease liability arising from financing activities in 

accordance with the consolidated cash flow are integrated as follows: 

 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Beginning balance $ 6,721,707 $ 5,901,978 
Additions (new contracts)  264,623  1,548,655 
Write-offs **  (854,997)  (297,968) 
Interest expense of lease payments  473,991  519,510 
Lease payments  (834,522)  (950,468) 

Final balance $ 5,770,802 $ 6,721,707 
 
** It includes a balance amounting to $242,443 for the dissolution of BAFEL. See Note 26. 

 
The total future minimum lease payments include un-accrued interest is summarized as follows: 
 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Less than 1 year $ 454,683 $ 522,340 
Over 1 year and less than 5 years  2,032,049  2,156,920 
Over 5 years   3,284,070  4,042,447 

Total $ 5,770,802 $ 6,721,707 
 
Note 14 - Goodwill and intangible assets: 

  Licenses and 
 Goodwill Software Total 
Cost 
Closing balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 243,174 $ 859,050 $ 1,102,224 
Investments  -  145,483  145,483 

Closing balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 243,174 $ 1,004,533 $ 1,247,707 

Investments    35,135  35,135 

Closing balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 243,174 $ 1,039,668 $ 1,282,842 
 
Amortization 
Closing balance as of December 31, 2018 $ - $ 643,121 $ 643,121 
Amortization  -  100,348  100,348 

Closing balance as of December 31, 2019  -  743,469  743,469 

Amortization    5,037  5,037 

Impairment determined in the year  116,564    116,564 

Discontinued operation  2,078  255,360  257,438 

Closing balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 118,642 $ 1,003,866 $ 1,122,508 
 
Net book value  
As of December 31, 2020 $ 124,532 $ 35,802 $ 160,334 

As of December 31, 2019 $ 243,174 $ 261,064 $ 504,238 
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The goodwill arising in business combinations was allocated at the date of acquisition in its entirety to the cash 
generating unit (CGU) of FAMSA Mexico segment. This segment is benefited from the synergies of business 
combinations. 
 
The key assumptions used in calculating the use value are as follows: 
 
 Grupo Famsa 
   
Sales volume and interest (% annual growth) 13.6% 
Gross margin (% of income) 35.7% 
Long-term growth rate 3.6% 
Discount rate before taxes 21.5% 
 

‒ Sales volume and interest were projected based on past experiences, real operating income, and the five-
year business plan by Company’s Management. 

 

‒ The gross margin is the average margin as the percentage of sales and interest during the forecast period of 
five years. It is based on the margins of the current sales levels and the sales mix, with the adjustments 
made to reflect the increases in expected future prices. The Administration determined the gross margin 
budgeted based on the past results and their expectations of market development. 

 

‒ It is estimated that the long-term growth rate concurs with domestic inflation. 
 

‒ The discount rate was calculated based on the weighted average cost of capital.  
 
The values that were allocated to the key assumptions represent the evaluation by Management of future trends 
in the business, and they are based on both external and internal sources. 
 
If the discount rate used increases one percentage point (21.5% + 1.00%), the value obtained as a flow is 
sufficient even to cover the assets analyzed. 
  
In connection with the calculation of value in use of operating segments, the Company considers that a possible 
change in the key assumptions would not cause the book value of the operating segment to materially exceed its 
value in use. 
 
Note 15 - Other assets: 
 
 December 31 
 
 2020 2019 
 
Advanced payments $ 30,414 $ 52,647 
Costs of obtaining contracts with customers (a)    1,093,199 

Total $ 30,414 $1,145,846 
 
 
(a) Correspond to disbursements made by the Company that recognizes as an asset and that are related to 

incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a client, mainly, commissions paid to sellers. These assets are 
recognized if and only if, the Company expects to recover these costs. The incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract are the costs incurred by an entity to obtain a contract that it would not have incurred if the 
contract had not been obtained. 
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(b) The Company recognizes these costs as an expense within the consolidated statement of income within the 

line of operating expenses when the income associated with that cost is carried out in a period of twelve 
months or less (practical file). 

 
An asset recognized in accordance with the indicated previously, is amortized at the effective rate consistent 
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to the client, in such a way that the asset is recognized 
in the consolidated statement of income through their amortization in the same period of time in which the 
respective income is booked. 
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 the transactions per year of the incremental costs of obtaining a contract, are 

as follows: 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Balance at beginning of the year $ 1,093,199 $ 1,425,665 
Origination costs capitalized    827,454 
Discontinued operation   (1,093,199)   
Amortization    (1,159,920) 

Balances as the end of the year $ - $ 1,093,199 
 
Note 16 - Demand and time deposits: 
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s deposits with third parties were comprised as follows: 
 
 
 2020 2019 
Demand deposits: 
Savings deposits (interest bearing) $ - $ 4,726,006 
Checking accounts (non-interest bearing)  -  2,869,146 
Global capacitation account  -  26,000 
 
Time deposits: 
From the general public  -  25,973,901 
Money market  -  588,715 

Total demand deposits and time deposits $ - $ 34,183,768 
 

 

According to the terms negotiated, the fund raising is presented as follows at December 31: 

 

 2020 2019 
 
Short-term deposits $ - $ 32,679,320 
Long-term deposits  -  1,504,448 

Total short and long-term deposits $ - $ 34,183,768 
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Depending on the type of instrument and average balance in the investments, these liabilities bear interest at 
the variable average rates indicated below:  
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Demand deposits  -  1.76% 
Term deposits  -  9.21% 

 
The funding rate used by the Bank as a benchmark for local currency is the bank rate published by Banxico. 
 
Time deposits consist mainly of Invercedes, which are certificates of deposit related to a checking and 
promissory note. The terms of these deposits are analyzed below as of December 31, 2019: 
 
 
     2020   2019  
     Promissory   Promissory 
 Period  Invercedes  notes   Total   Invercedes  notes   Total 
 
From 1 to 179 days $ - $ - $ - $ 4,224,050 $ 3,413,951 $ 7,638,001 
From 6 to 12 months  -  -  -  16,775,221  56,231  16,831,452 
From 1 to 2 years  -  -  -  1,504,448  -  1,504,448 

 $ - $ - $ - $ 22,503,719 $ 3,470,182 $ 25,973,901 

 
 
Note 17 – Short-term and long-term debt: 
 
Total consolidated debt at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is comprised as follows: 
 
  Interest 
 2020 2019 rate (*) 
Local currency: 
 
Financial factoring lines: (1)  
 
Financiera Bajío, S. A. SOFOM, ER  $ 159,674 $ 199,954 9.74% (b) 
 
Credit lines contracted in short-term: 
 
BBVA Bancomer, S. A. $ 78,000 $ 72,000 11.40% (a), (c) 
Banco Multiva, S. A. (4)  382,368  91,392 8.99% (b), (c) 
Banco Multiva, S. A. (4)  500,000   9.70% (b), (c) 
Banco del Bajío, S. A.     9,850 11.77% (b), (c) 
Intercam Banco, S.A.  150,000  150,000 7.77% (b) 
Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A. (3)  1,500,000   8.16% (b) 
Banco Nacional de Comercio  
Exterior, S.N.C. (Bancomext) (2)  2,337,116  136,982 11.62% (b) 
Banco Nacional de Comercio  
Exterior, S.N.C. (Bancomext) (2)  919,319  95,300 11.12% (b) 

 $ 5,866,803 $ 555,524 
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  Bank rate 
Credit lines contracted in long-term: 2020 2019 rate (*) 
 
BBVA Bancomer, S. A. $ - $ 30,000 11.40% (a), (c) 
Banco Multiva, S. A. (4)  -  313,824 9.80% (b), (c) 
Banco Multiva, S. A. (4)  -  500,000 10.96% (b), (c) 
Banco Nacional de Comercio  
Exterior, S.N.C. (Bancomext) (2)  -  2,265,345 11.62% (b) 

Banco Nacional de Comercio  
Exterior, S.N.C. (Bancomext) (2)  -  822,652 11.62% (b) 

 $ - $ 3,931,821 
 
Total credit lines $ 5,866,803 $ 4,487,345 
 
  
  
Unsecured credit lines short-term 
 
Antali Corporation, S.A. (5) $ - $ 30,000 14.78% (b) 
Finpo, S.A. (5)  -  30,000 14.78% (b) 

 $ - $ 60,000 
 
Issue of debt certificates  
in the national market: 
 
Short-term (6) $ 358,412 $ 703,620 10.53% (b) 
 
Issuance of privately subordinated 
capital obligations (Banco Famsa): 
 
Long-term (10) $ - $ 532,580 13.51% (b) 
 
US Dollars (expressed in currency report) 
 
Credit lines in United States (Famsa, Inc.)**: 
 
Harvest Commercial Capital, LLC. (Long-term) $ 65,017 $ 66,108 3.33% (b), (d) 
Texas Capital Bank, N.A. (Short-term) $ 59,726 $ 245,235 5.00% (b) 
Harvest Small Business  
Finance, LLC. (long-term) (7)  67,288  - 1.00% (a) 

 $ 192,031 $ 311,343 
 
Issue of stock market debt  
abroad.- short-term: 
 
Senior notes GFAMSA2020 (2) (8) $ 1,170,462 $ 1,107,838 7.25% (a), (c) 
Senior notes GFAMSA2024 (9)  1,557,325  - 9.75% (a), (c) 

           $ 2,727,787 $ 1,107,838 
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Issuance of stock market debt  
abroad.- long-term: 
 
Senior notes GFAMSA2024 (9) $ - $ 1,478,050 9.75% (a), (c) 
 
 
Total consolidated debt $9,304,707 $8,880,730 
 
Short-term debt $9,172,402 $2,872,171 
Long-term debt $ 132,305 $6,008,559 
 

 
(*)  Nominal rates: (a) fixed; and (b) variable. Debts that have guarantors (c) and debts that are backed by 

mortgage guarantees (d). 
 
(**) Liabilities not subject to “Concurso Mercantil” proceedings. 
 
Since June 2020, the company defaulted on capital and interest payments; therefore, on August 6th, 2020, 
Grupo Famsa, S.A.B de C. V., upon previous authorization of the General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting , filed 
a voluntary petition for “Concurso Mercantil”, due to the infringements of its financial obligations, as well as 
other corporate events that affected the financial position of the company and its liquidity.  
 

On the same date, the application for protection under the Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code of the United 
States was submitted by the company, with the purpose of protects its assets located in that country. On August 
12, 2020, the application under Chapter 15 in the United States Bankruptcy Code was admitted by the 
competent authorities’ courts, who also granted injunctive reliefs to prevent of any judicial, administrative or 
any other action or process against Grupo Famsa or its assets located in the United States.  
 
Subsequently, on August 24, 2020, the request for the declaration of “Concurso Mercantil” filed by the Company 
was admitted to procedure in the terms and for the purposes provided for in the “Ley de Concursos Mercantiles” 
(Commercial Bankruptcy Law). Likewise, the authority also made a request to the Federal Institute of 
“Concurso Mercantil” Specialists (IFECOM as per its initials in Spanish)” to inform that the application to 
appoint a Visitor who would verify the compliance with the assumptions under which the application was made. 
 
Moreover, the following injunctive reliefs were issued in benefit of Grupo Famsa: 
 

 The prohibition of making payments of obligations in arrears prior to the date on which leave was 
granted to the application or petition for Concurso Mercantil. 

 The suspension of all execution proceedings of any nature, whether commercial, civil, labor or 
administrative against the goods and rights of Grupo Famsa, which is conducive to a decrease in its 
patrimony and, therefore, the assets object of the “Concurso Mercantil”. 

 Banking institutions in which Grupo Famsa reports that it has funds are prohibited from authorizing 
that those funds be transferred, disposed, attached, detained, retained, offset and/or used in benefit of 
third parties other than the legal entity account holder, in the understanding that such a legal entity, as 
the holder of those bank accounts, will continue with the bank movements that are necessary for the 
ordinary operation thereof. 

 
In addition, on September 16, 2020, the court of the United States recognized the “Concurso Mercantil” as a 
foreign proceeding, and it maintained the decision to continue to grant provisional injunctive reliefs. 
 
Finally, on October 30, 2020, the application for “Concurso Mercantil” requested by Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de 
C.V. was acknowledged as filed, and the judge issued the corresponding declaration  with the opening of the 
conciliation stage.  
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Due to the foregoing, the liabilities subject to “Concurso Mercantil” are recorded as short-term liabilities. 
In addition, in accordance with the “Ley de Concursos Mercantiles” (Commercial Bankruptcy Law), liabilities 
subscribed by Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C. V., as of the date on which the “Concurso Mercantil” its been declared 
(October 30, 2020), the principal and the unpaid financial charges of credits in local currency, without a real 
guarantee, will no longer bear interest, and they will set in Investment Units (UDI Exchange Rate as of October 
30, 2020: $6.565713). 
 
The domestic credits that were applicable to this precept are those entered into with the following financial 
institutions: Financiera Bajío S.A. SOFOM, E.R.; Banco Nacional de Comercio Exterior S.N.C., Banca de 
Desarrollo (Bancomext); BBVA Bancomer S.A., Institución de Banca Múltiple, Grupo Financiero BBVA 
Bancomer; Intercam Banco S.A., Institución de Banca Mútilple, Intercam Grupo Financiero; Banco Multiva 
S.A., Institución de Banca Múltiple, Grupo Financiero Multiva; Banco Ahorro Famsa S.A., Institución de Banca 
Múltiple; and the short-term securities exchange certificates of which Monex Casa de Bolsa S.A. de C.V., Monex 
Grupo Financiero act as a common representative (GFAMSA 04819, 05919, 06019, 06719, 06919, 07019, 07219 
and 07319). 
 
The adjustment on the impact of inflation due to the change in the value of the UDIS will be recognized in the 
item of “accounts payable and accrued expenses”. 
 
For credits in foreign currency, without a real guarantee , and subscribed by Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C. V., the 
capital was recognized as of the date on which the “Concurso Mercantil” its been declared (October 30, 2020), 
and will no longer bear interest as of the same date. Likewise the debt  will be converted into local currency 
(Exchange rate: $21.3770 pesos/dollars) and  in turn, will be converted into UDIs (UDI as of October 30, 2020: 
$6.565713). 
 
The adjustment on the impact of inflation due to the change in the value of the UDIS will be recognized in the 
item of “accounts payable and accrued expenses”. 
 
The credit applicable to this precept is the issue of security market debt abroad known as Senior Notes GFAMSA 
2020. 
 
Credits with a real guarantee will be maintained in the currency or unit in which they are denominated, and they 
will only bear the ordinary interest stipulated in the contracts, up to the value of the assets that guarantee them. 
 
The debt securities applicable to this precept is the one issued as Senior Notes GFAMSA 2024, which will be 
maintained in its original currency and continue to bear ordinary interest, in accordance with what is set forth 
in the “Ley de Concursos Mercantiles” (Commercial Bankruptcy Law). 
 

Disposal of Factoring lines: 
 
(1) The Company had contracted factoring credit lines with suppliers. 
 

In the event that the payment should not have been received or the respective funds provided by the 
borrower on the unpaid amounts, it will pay interest in arrears thereto for the period extending from the 
date on which the borrower should have made the payment at the rate resulting from multiplying the 
benchmark rate by 2 (Two). 
 
Beginning July, the company defaulted on the payment of capital and interest. For purposes of “Concurso 
Mercantil”, this liability has been recognized on the Creditor´s  List with its effects as of October 30, 2020. 
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Disposal of bank debt: 
 
(2) On July 25, 2017, Grupo Famsa contracted a simple line of credit with Banco Nacional de Comercio 

Exterior, S.N.C. for $2,634,270 thousand pesos. This loan accrues interest at an annual variable rate of 
TIIE+300 pbs, and interest in arrears at the rate resulting from multiplying the ordinary interest rate by 
two, applicable to the disposal with regard to which and the arrears had been incurred, on the unpaid 
amount. Its contractual expiration was at 10 years. 
 
The amount of the principal would have been paid in 20 increasing amortizations, semi-annual and 
consecutive, beginning 6 months after the disposal date, which occurred on July 28, 2017. The subsidiaries 
Impulsora Promobien, S.A. de C.V., Auto Gran Crédito Famsa, S.A. de C.V., Geografía Patrimonial, S.A. de 
C.V., Famsa México, S.A. de C.V., Corporación de Servicios Ejecutivos, S.A. de C.V., Corporación de 
Servicios para la Administración de Valores, S.A. de C.V., and Garval Servicios de Asesoría Empresarial, 
S.A. de C.V. give support to Grupo Famsa, acting as forced solidarity entities. Appear as guarantors the 
subsidiaries Expormuebles, S.A. de C.V., Mayoramsa, S.A. de C.V., Verochi, S.A. de C.V., Promotora 
Sultana S.A. de C.V., Suministro Especial de Personal, S.A. de C.V. and Corporación de Servicios Ejecutivos 
Famsa, S.A. de C.V.  
 
The resources obtained were used to replace bank liabilities contracted with Arrendadora and Factor 
Banorte, S.A. of C.V. SOFOM, ER, Banco Actinver, S.A. and Banco Inmobiliario Mexicano, S.A. for a total 
amount of $562,398 thousands of pesos. 
 
In addition, the resources were used for the early amortization of the 2020 Bond on September 8, 2017 
under the terms established in section 5.1 of Article 5 of the contract and in section 5 of the Bonds at a 
redemption price of 103.625%. The total payment of the abovementioned amortization was of $ 2,071,872, 
equivalent to U.S. 116,136 thousand whose amount included U.S. 3,987 thousand redemption prize; U.S. 
2,149 thousand accrued interest and U.S. 110,000 thousand principal.  
 
On June 20, 2018, Grupo Famsa contracted a second simple line of credit with Banco Nacional de 
Comercio Exterior, S.N.C. for $1,000,000 thousand pesos. This loan accrues interest at an annual variable 
rate of TIIE +300 pbs, and interest in arrears at the rate resulting from multiplying the ordinary interest 
rate by two, applicable to the disposal with regard to which and the arrears had been incurred, on the 
unpaid amount. Its contractual expiration was at 7 years. The resources obtained were used to replace bank 
liabilities for a total amount of $700,000 and $300,000 to working capital accounts. 
 
The amount of the principal would have been paid in 14 increasing amortizations, semi-annual and 
consecutive, beginning 6 months after the disposal date, wich occurred on June 25, 2018.  
The subsidiaries: Impulsora Promobien, S.A, de C.V., Auto Gran Crédito Famsa, S.A. de C.V., Geografía 
Patrimonial, S.A. de C.V., Famsa México, S.A. de C.V., Corporación de Servicios Ejecutivos, S.A. de C.V., 
Corporación de Servicios para la Administración de Valores, S.A. de C.V. y Garval Servicios de Asesoría 
Empresarial, S.A. de C.V., Expormuebles, S.A. de C.V., Mayoramsa, S.A. de C.V., Verochi, S.A. de C.V., 
Promotora Sultana S.A. de C.V., Suministro Especial de Personal, S.A. de C.V., and Corporación de 
Servicios Ejecutivos Famsa, S.A. de C.V. support Grupo Famsa, acting as forced solidarity entities. 
 
In June and July 2020, the company directly defaulted on payments of capital and interest of the two lines 
of credit celebrated with this institution; therefore, the early termination clauses set forth in the loan 
agreements were updated. Consequently, it recognizes the total line of credit as a short-term liability. 
 
For purposes of “Concurso Mercantil”, this liability has been recognized on the List of Creditors with its 
effects as of October 30, 2020. 
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(3) It corresponds to a simple credit line in pesos entered between Grupo Famsa and Banco Ahorro Famsa. 
The credit did not stipulate a guarantee, and it stipulated a contractual interest rate TIIE + 250 pbs, 
payable in a single payment, due July 2020. Interest was accrued monthly. In the event of default on the 
timely payment and total of the sum of the principal, the unpaid amount will bear interest in arrears from 
the due date up to the date on which it is paid. This line of credit was recorded as the result of the 
disincorpration of Banco Ahorro Famsa from the consolidated statements of Grupo Famsa and 
subsidiaries. 

 
The maturity of the above credit took place last July 17, 2020. Grupo Famsa did not pay the corresponding 
capital and interest pursuant to the maturity. 
 

 For purposes of “Concurso Mercantil”, this liability has been recognized on the Creditor´s List with its 
effects as of October 30, 2020. 

 
(4) As of April 2, 2019, a line of credit was contracted with Banco Multiva, S.A. by the amount of $500,000 

thousand pesos. This credit accrues interest at an annual variable rate TIIE+ 300 pbs, and an interest rate 
in arrears resulting from multiplying the ordinary interest rate by two times. Its expiration was at 7 years. 
The resources obtained have been used for the payment of the debt certificates and bank credit lines. 

 
On August 2020, the company directly defaulted on payments of capital and interest of the two lines of 
credit that it has entered into with this institution; therefore, the early termination clauses set forth in the 
loan agreements were updated. Consequently, it recognizes the total line of credit as a short-term liability. 
 
For purposes of “Concurso Mercantil”, this liability has been recognized on the List of Creditors with its 
effects as of October 30, 2020. 

 
Disposal of unsecured credit lines: 
  
(5) On November 29, 2019, a line of credit was contracted between Mayoramsa S.A. de C.V., a subsidiary of 

Grupo Famsa, and Finpo S.A. de C.V. SOFOM, E.N.R. by the amount of $30,000. This loan is revolving, 
accruing interest at an annual variable rate of TIIE + 700 bps. and its maturity is in 3 years. The resources 
obtained were used to finance the loan portfolio of Mayoramsa. 

 On November 29, 2019, a line of credit was contracted between Mayoramsa S.A. de C.V., a subsidiary of 
 Grupo Famsa, and Antali Corporation S.A.P.I. de C.V. SOFOM, E.N.R. by the amount of $30,000. This loan 
 is revolving, accruing interest at an annual variable rate of TIIE + 700 bps. and its maturity is in 3 years. 
 The resources obtained were used to finance the loan portfolio of Mayoramsa.  
 
Issuance of debt certificates in the national market: 
  
(6) The placement programs of short-term certificates that amounted to $500 million and 1 billion reached 

their maturity last January 30, 2020 and March 9, 2020, respectively. Consequently, since the dates 
referred to above, Grupo Famsa did not issue Securities Exchange Certificates in reliance on those 
programs. 

 
 In the event of default in the timely, total payment of the principal of the Securities Exchange Certificates, 

interest in arrears would be accrued in substitution of ordinary interest, on the capital due and payable and 
not paid of the Securities Exchange Certificates at a rate equal to the result of multiplying the capitalized 
annual gross interest rate by 2 (two), applicable to the period of interest in which the default has occurred. 

 

In July and August 2020, Grupo Famsa defaulted on the payment of capital and interest of the securities 
exchange certificates that prevailed in reliance on the placement programs. 
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 For purposes of “Concurso Mercantil”, this liability has been recognized on the List of Creditors with its 

effects as of October 30, 2020. 
 

Disposal of foreign bank debt: 
 

(7) On May 4, 2020, Famsa, Inc. subscribed a line with harvest Small Business finance, LLC by the amount of 
US$3,379 thousands of dollars at a 1.00% rate, due May 4, 2022.  The line is subscribed as support offered 
by the federal government of the United States to deal with the economic circumstances caused by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
      This liability is not subject to the status of “Concurso Mercantil” filed for Grupo Famsa, S.A.B de C.V. 
 

Issue of security market debt abroad: 
 
(8)  In May 31, 2013, Grupo Famsa issued (“Senior notes”) in the amount of US$250,000 thousands of dollars, 

under rule 144A/Reg. S, in the foreign market at a rate of 7.25%, expiring on May 31, 2020.  On September 
8, 2017, the company amortized US$110,000 thousands of dollars. 

 
 As of October 25, 2019, Grupo Famsa announced an exchange offer to exchange new 9.75% senior secured 

notes, due 2024 for any and all of its outstanding 7.250% senior notes due on 2020. The Company also 
conducting a solicitation of consents of the holders of Senior notes 2020 to certain proposed amendments 
to the indenture governing the Senior notes, same they propose to eliminate substantially all of the 
restrictive covenants and certain events of default. As of December 17, 2019, the Company announced the 
settlement of its offer to exchange and the related solicitation of consents were approved, exchanging a total 
of US 80,922 thousand. It was also approved that for every US 1 thousand principal amount of Senior notes 
2020 tendered and accepted in the exchange offer, holders received US 1 thousand principal amount of 
Senior notes 2024 and US 12.50 dollars in cash.The Senior Notes 2020 maintained a remaining balance 
amounting to USD$59,078 thousands of dollars. 

 

The bonds are guaranteed by the retail and transforming trading companies and others, which are 
Impulsora Promobien, S.A, de C.V., Famsa Inc., Famsa Financial, Inc., Auto Gran Crédito Famsa, S.A. de 
C.V., Expormuebles, S.A. de C.V., Mayoramsa, S.A. de C.V., Verochi, S.A. de C.V., Geografía Patrimonial, 
S.A. de C.V. and Famsa México, S.A. de C.V. Due to the acceptance of the modifications made to the issuance 
certificate, the Senior notes 2020 received the withdrawal of ratings by Fitch Ratings and Standard and 
Poors on December 18, 2019 and December 23, 2019, respectively.  
 
Last May 29, 2020, the company announced the beginning of a new process for only and exclusively 
restructuring its 7.250% senior notes outstanding. As part of this process, it started a request for votes to 
carry out a plan with prior restructuring agreement under the laws of the United States of America, which 
was carried out in accordance with a Disclosure Statement, dated May 29, 2020.  

 
As a result of the foregoing, on June 1, 2020, Grupo Famsa did not make the payment on capital, as well as 
the amount of the corresponding interest on its last coupon. 

 

On June 23, 2020, Grupo Famsa received the majority support of the holders of the 2020 Bonds with an 
affirmative vote on the restructuring plan of the Senior Notes that matured on June 1, 2020. Of the 356 
ballots counted, affirmative votes were received for approximately 96% of the principal (equivalent to 48.6 
million, legal tender in the United States of America) and more than 98% in number of holders (351), who 
voted on the restructuring plan.  
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Pursuant to the foregoing, on June 26, 2020, Grupo Famsa filed voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the 
United States Bankruptcy Code with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New 
York, in order to obtain authorization of its restructuring plan authorized with prior agreement under 
Chapter 11 of that code, which would allow the Company to restructure its “senior notes 7.250%” 
outstanding, due June 1, 2020 (the “2020 Bonds”). 

 
However, last July 14, a petition was filed for voluntary withdrawal from Chapter 11 of the of the United 
States Bankruptcy Code, arising mainly from the revocation process of the banking license of Banco Ahorro 
Famsa S.A., Institución de Banca Múltiple in liquidation, which, in turn, modifies the environment on 
which the terms and conditions of the voting on the proposal of the 2020 Bond refinancing plan relied.   
The petition was granted leave to proceed by the authority last August 10, 2020. 

 

Pursuant to the foregoing, this issue is considered as a default on the payment of the total of the principal, 
as well as the interest corresponding to its last coupon. 

 
 For purposes of “Concurso Mercantil”, this liability has been recognized on the List of Creditors with its 

effects as of October 30, 2020. 
 

(9) As of December 17, Grupo Famsa issued Senior Notes that were exchanged, in an amount of USD$80,922 
thousands of dollars, expiring on December 15, 2024. The bonds will earn interest at a yearly fixed rate of 
9.75% and  will pay interest on June 15 and December 15 of each year. Additionally, the new Senior Notes 
are guaranteed by: (i) the shares of Grupo Famsa´s U.S. subsidiaries; (ii) the intercompany debt of the 
Grupo Famsa´s subsidiaries; and (iii) the pledges on the shares and the intercompany debt of the U.S.  
subsidiaries of Grupo Famsa. 

 
 The new bonds are guaranteed by the retail and transforming trading companies and others, which are 

Famsa México, S.A. de C.V., Impulsora Promobien, S.A. de C.V., Auto Gran Crédito Famsa, S.A. de C.V., 
Corporación de Servicios para la Administración de Valores, S.A. de C.V., Mayoramsa, S.A. de C.V., 
Verochi, S.A. de C.V., Corporación de Servicios Ejecutivos Famsa, S.A. de C.V., Corporación de Servicios 
Ejecutivos, S.A. de C.V., Promotora Sultana, S.A. de C.V., Suministro Especial de Personal, S.A. de C.V., 
Garval Servicios de Asesoría Empresarial, S.A. de C.V., Expormuebles, S.A. de C.V., Geografía Patrimonial, 
S.A. de C.V., Famsa, Inc., Famsa Financial, Inc. and Huntington Park Real Estate, LLC. 

 
 Due to the non-payment of other financial obligations of Grupo Famsa, the early termination clauses set 

forth in the issuance contracts were updated and therefore recognizes the total securities market debt as 
short-term liabilities. 

 

 For purposes of “Concurso Mercantil”, this liability has been recognized on the Creditor’s List, with its 
effects as of October 30, 2020.   

 
 In addition, at the request of the issuer, the ratings of the security that was offered by the rating agencies 

Standard and Poor's and Fitch Ratings have been removed since last December 14, 2020 and December 23, 
respectively. 

 
(10) In accordance to the official letter identified as “OFI003-2569” dated February 11, 2019, Banxico 

authorized to Banco Famsa to issue privately subordinated capital obligations, non-preferential and not 
susceptible of becoming shares of Banco Famsa, until the amount of $2,000,000 equivalents to 
20,000,000 of obligations subordinated with a nominal value of $100 pesos each obligation, at a rate 
(TIIE) plus five points and maturity of 10 years. 

 
 This liability was recognized as part of the consolidation of Banco Ahorro Famsa, Institución de Banca 

Múltiple in liquidation (BAFEL).  
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The cash flows reconciliation from current and non-current debt proceeding from financing activities are as 

follows: 

 
 2020 2019 
 
Balances at January 1 $ 8,880,730 $ 160,272 

Cash flows for financing activities 
Proceeds from current and non-current debt   2,247,028  2,680,258 
Payments of current and non-current debt   1,290,786  2,465,214 

Net cash flow from financing activities   9,836,971  8,972,303 
 
Effects in exchanges rates  1,053  (69,610) 
Debt related costs: 
Discontinued item  (532,580) 
Capitalization of costs  (21,655)  (28,893) 
Amortization of costs  20,918  6,930 

Balance at December 31 $ 9,304,707 $8,880,730 
 
 
Fair value of the consolidated debt 
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair value of short-term debts contracted approximates their book value, 
due to the short-term of its maturity.   
 
 

  Outstanding Fair 
  balance as of value as of 
  December December Hierarchy of 
 Counterpart 31, 2020   31, 2020 fair values 

 
Harvest Commercial Capital, LLC. $ 65,017 $ 58,887  2 
Harvest Small Business Finance, LLC. $67,288 $ 60,372  2 
 
 
Maturities of the consolidated long-term debt:    
 
The maturities of the long-term debt are detailed as follows: 
 
 
 2022  $ 132,305 
 2023 onward  - 

  $ 132,305 
 
 
The current credits establish certain obligations to do and not to do, among which the establishment of limits 
for the leverage index, limitation for contracting additional debt except the permitted one, cannot be merged, 
liquidated or dissolved the assets, make changes in its accounting policies or reporting practices, except as 
required in the applicable IFRS and submit quarterly reports, as well as certificates of compliance signed by an 
authorized officer of the Company.     
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Note 18 - Accounts payable and accrued expenses: 

 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses are summarized as follows:  
 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Liabilities for operating expenses (1) $ 632,732 $ 1,022,720 
Interest payable  491,766  169,426 
Income tax and VAT withholdings   232,069  210,066 
Payroll taxes  73,106  119,560 
Advance payments  50,000  - 
Wages (3)  49,201  50,682 
Deferred rents  37,917  37,541 
Funds raised by borrowing.- Depositors AGCF (4)  26,178  42,469 
Customer advances - insatllments (2)  16,141  56,929 
Other creditors  230,332  15,354 

Total Accounts payable and accrued expenses $1,839,442 $ 1,724,747 

 
 
(1) Liabilities for water, light, telephone, fuel, maintenance, and other expenses. 
(2) Corresponds to the advances that customers provide for the purchase of furniture. Once the required 

advance payment is reached, the corresponding sale is made by canceling this advance payment from 
customers recognizing the corresponding income, as well as the account receivable for the remaining 
monthly payments. 

(3) It include liabilities for salaries, commissions to sales personnel, savings fund, medical expense, and 
others. 

(4) It includes contributions from self-financing customers, vehicle insurance, and others. 
 

Note 19 - Related parties: 

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there are receivable balances from affiliated companies amounting to 
$1,718,287 and $1,665,202 (see note 9), respectively. As of December 31, 2020, an allowance was created for 
receivables in their totality from affiliated companies due to the uncertainty of their recovery. 
 
Balances payable to related parties amounting to $2,623,227 are from ordinary operations carried out with the 
discontinued operation up to June 30, 2020. See Note 1.1. 
 
 December 31: 
 2020 2019 
 
Rental expenses $  54,080  $   84,180 
Current account interes income  151,993  260,533 
 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the remunerations and benefits received by the main officers of the 
Company amounted to $125,251 ($121,715 in 2019), an amount comprised of the base salary and employee 
benefits mandated by law and complemented by a variable compensation program that is basically governed 
based on the performance of the Company. 
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Note 20 – Employee benefits: 

 
The value of vested benefit obligations as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 amounted to $208,381 and $235,910, 
and it is shown below: 
 
 2020 2019 
 
Pension plan $ 81,146 $ 74,888 
Seniority premium  72,810  86,760 
Other employee benefits  54,425  74,262 

 $ 208,381 $ 235,910 
 
The net cost for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is shown below: 
 
  2020 2019 
 
Pension plan   $ 6,489 $ 8,394 
Seniority premium    10,669  17,818 
Employee benefits    2,619  11,330 

   $ 19,777 $ 37,542 
 
Pension plan 
 
The amount included as a liability in the consolidated statements of financial position is summarized as follows:  
 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 

 

Defined benefits obligation (DBO) and total  
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position $ 81,146 $ 74,888 

 
The movement in defined benefits obligations was as follows: 
 
  2020 2019 
 
Opening balance as of January 1    $ 74,888 $ 67,074 
 
Labor cost    2,018  3,133 
Financial cost - net    4,471  5,261 
Actuarial losses (gains)              371  (6,554) 
Benefits paid and other remeasurements    (602)  5,974 

Ending balance as of December 31   $ 81,146 $ 74,888 

 
The following are the main actuarial assumptions as of the date of presentation (stated as weighted averages): 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Discount rate 8.00% 9.00% 
Rate of wage increase 4.00% 4.00% 
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Net cost for the period is summarized as follows: 
  2020 2019 
 
Cost of services for the year $ 2,018 $ 3,133 
Financial cost - net  4,471  5,261 

Net cost for the period $ 6,489 $ 8,394 

 
 
In the event that the discount rate should have an increase or hypothetical 0.25% decrease of that estimated by 
Management, the book value of labor obligations would have an increase amounting to $604 or a decrease 
amounting to $593, respectively. 
 

Seniority premium 
 
The amount included as a liability in the consolidated statements of financial position is summarized as follows: 
 
 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
Defined benefits obligation (DBO) and total  
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position $ 72,810 $ 86,760 
 
The movement in defined benefits obligations was as follows: 

2020 2019 
 
Opening balance as of January 1 $ 86,760 $ 63,862 
 
Labor cost  5,619  10,987 
Financial cost - net  5,050  6,831 
Actuarial losses (gains)  1,839  (4,561) 
Disincorporation of BAFEL  (23,159)   
Benefits paid and other remeasurements  (3,299)  9,641 

Ending balance as of December 31 $ 72,810 $ 86,760 

 
 
The following are the main actuarial assumptions as of the date of presentation (stated as weighted averages): 

 December 31h 
 2020 2019 
 
Discount rate 8.00% 9.00% 
Rate of wage increase 4.00% 4.00% 

 
Net cost for the period is summarized as follows: 
  2020 2019 
 
Cost of services for the year $ 5,619 $ 10,987 
Financial cost - net  5,050  6,831 

Net cost for the period $ 10,669 $ 17,818 
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In the event that the discount rate should have an increase or hypothetical 0.25% decrease of that estimated by 
management, the book value of labor obligations would have an increase amounting to $1,124 or a decrease 
amounting to $1,091, respectively. 
 

Other employee benefits 
 
The amount included as a liability in the consolidated statements of financial position is summarized as follows:  
 
 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
Defined benefits obligation (DBO) and total  
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position $ 54,425 $ 74,262 

 
 
The movement in defined benefits obligations are summarized as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 
 
Opening balance as of January 1 $ 74,262 $ 69,393 
 
Labor cost  (2,181)  5,327 
Financial cost - net  4,800  6,003 
Actuarial gains  (6,171)  (7,822) 
Disincorporation of BAFEL  (13,538)   2,661 
Benefits paid and other remeasurements  (2,747)  (1,300) 

Ending balance as of December 31 $ 54,425 $ 74,262 

 
 
The following are the main actuarial assumptions as of the date of presentation (stated as weighted averages): 

 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Discount rate 8.00% 9.00% 
Rate of wage increase 4.00% 4.00% 

Net cost for the period is summarized as follows: 
 
  2020 2019 
 
Cost of services for the year $ 2,181 $ 5,327 
Financial cost - net  4,800  6,003 

Net cost for the period $ 2,619 $ 11,330 

 
In the event that the discount rate should have an increase or hypothetical 0.25% decrease of that estimated by 
management, the book value of labor obligations would have an increase amounting to $1,381 or a decrease 
amounting to $1,332, respectively. 
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Note 21 - Stockholders’ equity: 
 
At the General Annual Ordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held on April 23, 2020, the stockholders resolved to 
approve that the fund created for the purchase and sale of its own shares has a maximum value amounting to 
$300 million pesos.  As of December 31, 2020, the Company had 10,230,015 shares (10,030,015 shares in 2019) 
held in treasury and the market value per share at that date was $0.32 pesos ($4.46 pesos in 2019). 
 
During 2020, 200,000 ordinary shares of Series “A” were repurchased in the amount of $397.  
 
During 2019, 1,462,628 ordinary shares of Series "A" were repurchased in the amount of $10,177.  
 
As of December 31, 2020, the capital stock is comprised as follows: 
 

 Number 
Description of shares Amount 
 
Fixed capital (minimum): Series “A”, Class “I”, common   
nominative shares, without par value   330,097,385 $ 660,195 
Variable capital: Series “A”, Class “II”, common   
nominative shares, without par value   229,555,376  459,110 
Accumulated inflation increase as of December 31, 1997   -  579,909 

Paid capital stock  559,652,761 $ 1,699,214 

 
The number of shares stated in the above chart is in unit values (not in thousands) 
 
Stockholder contributions restated as provided for by the tax law, aggregating $11,089,687, may be refunded to 
stockholders tax-free, to the extent that such contributions equal or exceed stockholders’ equity.   
 
The Company will not be able to distribute dividends until the deficit are repaid.   
 

Nature and purpose of the reserves 
 
i. Legal reserve and reinvestment reserve 
 
The net income of the year is subject to the legal requirement that at least 5% of the income for each period is 
intended to increase the legal reserve until it is equal to one fifth of the amount of the capital stock balance. The 
reinvestment reserve is intended to be reinvested in the Company under shareholders’ agreements; 10% of the 
profit for the year is allocated to this reserve.  
 

ii. Reserve for repurchases of shares 
 
The Shareholders' Meeting establishes a maximum amount for the acquisition of own shares. When a purchase 
occurs, they are converted into treasury shares and their amount is charged to stockholders' equity at their 
purchase price: a portion of the capital stock at its modified historical value, and the excess, at the stock 
repurchase reserve. These amounts are expressed at their historical value.  
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Going concern 
 
Pursuant to official letter P329/2020, dated June 30, 2020, Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A., Institucion de Banca 
Multiple (Full Service Banking Institution) was notified by the National Banking and Securities Commission 
(“CNBV”) about the revocation of its license to operate as a Full Service Banking Institution. On effective date 
July 1, 2020, the intervention procedure for the liquidation of Banco Ahorro Famsa by the Institute for the 
Protection of Bank Savings (“IPAB” - as per its initials in Spanish) was initiated. 
 
Banco Ahorro Famsa, S.A., Institución de Banca Múltiple, in liquidation, was a significant component for Grupo 
Famsa up to June 30, 2020. At June 30, 2020, credit sales generated by this component accounted for 
approximately 87% of total sales in Mexico. It is important to note that sales in Mexico represent 91% of the 
total consolidated sales. 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company will 
continue to operate as a going concern.  However, the events discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements indicate the existence of material uncertainty that can raise substantial doubts as to the ability of the 
Company to continue as a going concern.  In the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company suffered a net 
loss amounting to $19,857,030. In addition, as of that date, it has accumulated deficits amounting to 
$19,858,548, and the statement of financial position shows an excess of current liabilities over current assets 
amounting to $9,943,708. In addition, it has lost more than two-thirds of its capital stock and this could be 
grounds for dissolution of the entity at the request of an interested third party. 
 
Company management expects to continue to operate as a going concern. Those expectations are based mainly 
on the reactivation of credit to the Company's customers of the distinct types of goods and services.  During the 
second semester of 2020, alliances were established with Crédito Real to offer financing to our clients for the 
acquisition of capital goods and loans through payroll deductions. Moreover, the alliance established with 
Karum, a company in charge of providing advanced technological platform that will enable us to preserve the 
quality in granting and operating in the collection of loans placed.  A management service and collection 
contract of the portfolio owned by CKD Activos 9, S.A.P.I. de C.V. was entered into in the first quarter of 2021.  
In addition to this, the negotiations reached with the suppliers for the continuity of supplying products and 
services, as well as the negotiations with our lessors has provided us with the opportunity to develop strategies 
aligned with the new business conditions.  Attending to the needs of preserving liquidity and profitability, 115 
branches and 5 distribution centers located throughout the Mexican Republic have been closed, thus meeting 
the plan to operate with a more efficient network of branches.. In addition, during the first quarter of 2021, 
another 24 stores were closed. With the foregoing actions, the Company estimates maintaining the rest of its 
stores network, through the continuous evaluation of its profitability indicators, and open to the consumer 
public, in strict adherence to the provisions and restrictions established by the federal and local authorities in 
health care matters. 
 
Note 22 - Costs and expenses by nature: 

The cost of sales as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 is integrated as shown below: 
 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Cost of goods sold $ 3,247,472 $ 7,057,627 
Allowance for impairment of receivables from  
affiliated companies (note 9)  1,718,287  - 
Allowance for loan portfolio impairment (note 8)  389,764  397,273 
Freight  26,205  63,285 
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Total cost of sales $ 5,381,728 $ 7,518,185 
 
Operating expenses as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, are summarized as shown below: 

 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Salaries and employee benefits $ 1,739,013  $ 2,101,617 
Depreciation and amortization  582,216  112,483 
Leasing (note 13)  71,042  177,302 
Fees to companies and individuals  291,493  1,002,073 
Right-for-use assets depreciation  656,050  661,401 
Advertising  118,967  242,729 
Maintenance  92,979  207,782 
Electricity, water, and telephone services  171,506  222,099 
Fuels and lubricants  41,931  72,645 
Lease of furniture and equipment  78,154  75,617 
Others  386,388   466,722 

 $ 4,229,739 $ 5,342,470 
 
The salaries and employee benefits are comprised as follows: 
 

 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Salaries and bonus $ 1,245,466 $ 1,669,523 
Payroll contributions  317,822  282,544 
Food allowance vouchers  59,858  58,106 
Payroll tax  40,399  40,609 
Employee benefits  75,468  50,835 

 $ 1,739,013 $ 2,101,617 
 

Note 23 - Other income, net: 
 
 December 31 
Other income: 2020 2019 
 
Gain on sale of fixed assets $ 2,617   
Gain on sale of assets held for sale  -  $ 241,158 
Administrative services  1,049  5,768 
Others  246,745   75,429 

Total other income  250,411  322,355 
 
Other expenses: 
 
Current ESPS  (173)  (446) 
Loss on sale of fixed assets  -  (131,047) 
Others  (185,728)   (12,608) 

Total other expenses  (185,901)  (144,101) 

Other income, net $ 64,510 $ 178,254 
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Note 24 - Financial expenses and income: 

 
Financial expenses and income are comprised as follows: 
 
 

 December 31 
Financial expenses: 2020 2019 
 
Interest expenses on bank loans ($ 549,286) ($ 617,365) 
Interest expenses on debt certificates  (362,783)  (381,261) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  (653,509)  (484,504) 
Factoring  (20,049)  (37,750) 
Other financing expenses  (7)  (1,319) 
Exchange loss, net   (122,705)   - 

 ($ 1,708,339) ($ 1,522,199) 
 
Financial income: 

Financial income $ 152,464  $ 120,669 
Accrued interest of right collect from related parties  -  140,732 
Exchange gain, net  -  106,158 

 $ 152,464 $ 367,559 

 
 
Note 25 - Income tax: 
 
The Income Tax Law that entered into validity on January 1, 2014 establishes that the applicable IT rate for 
2014 and subsequent years is 30% of taxable income in Mexico. Derived from the tax reform in the United 
States of America, the rate was modified from 35% in 2017 to 21% as of 2018. 
 

Grupo Famsa and each of its subsidiaries determine and individually pay their taxes. The tax result differs from 
the accounting result due to the temporary differences arising from the comparison of the accounting balances 
and the fiscal values of each of the assets and liabilities accounts of the consolidated statement of financial 
position, as well as those items that only affect the accounting or tax result. 
 
Income tax is comprised as follows: 
 
 December 31 
 2020 2019 
 
Current income tax ($ 27,784) ($ 104,217) 
Deferred income tax  (3,444,123)  928,769 

 ($ 3,471,907)  $ 824,552 
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The deferred income tax is comprised as follows: 
 
 December 31 
Deferred income tax assets: 2020 2019 
 
Tax loss carryforwards $ 415,830 $ 2,168,097 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  876,778  1,829,065 
Account receivable deferred for tax purposes  30,921  1,139,086 
Property, furniture, equipment and rights of use, net  313,335  685,271 
Non-deductible interest Art. 28 Subsection XXXII  323,141   
Prepaid expenses  374,741   
Employee benefits  71,649  92,029 
Other provisions  28,614  27,953 
Other assets   17,496    52,623 

  2,452,535    5,994,124 
 
Deferred ISR liability: 
 
Revenue - other income to be accumulated  58,319  48,211 
Prepaid expenses and obtaining costs    841,642 
Other liabilities  83,228  66,895 

  141,547    956,748 

Total deferred income tax asset  2,310,988  5,037,376 

Deferred income tax valuation allowance  (2,310,988)  - 

Total deferred income tax asset $ - $ 5,037,376 

 
The Company created an allowance for the total deferred income tax asset due to the uncertainty in the recovery 
thereof. 
 
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities, from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 is 
shown below: 

     

 January Other Movements December 
Deferred ISR asset: 1, 2020 movements  to income 31, 2020 

Tax loss carryforwards $ 2,168,097   ($ 1,752,267) $ 415,830 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  1,829,065  ($1,485,891)(1)  533,604  876,778 

Accounts receivable deferred for tax purposes  1,139,086  (1,109,410)(1)  1,245  30,921 

Property, furniture, equipment and rights of use, net  685,271    (398,325)(1)  26,389  313,335 

Nondeductible interest Art. 28 Subsection XXXII      323,141   323,141 

Prepaid expenses      374,741  374,741 

Employee benefits  92,029  (19,298)(1)  (1,052)  71,679 

Other provisions  27,953    661  28,614 

Other assets  52,623  (26,880)(1)  (47)          17,496 
Exchange effect        26,305   (26,305)   

 $ 5,994,124 ($ 3,013,499) ($ 528,090) $ 2,452,535 
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Deferred ISR liability: 

Revenue to be accumulated $ 48,211   $  10,108  $ 58,319 

Advanced payments and origination costs  841,642 ($ 1,465,241)(1)      623,599  
Other liabilities  66,895            44,995(1)       (28,662)  83,228 

  956,748  (1,420,246)  605,045  141,547 

Deferred income tax asset, net  5,037,376  (1,593,253)  (1,133,135)  2,310,988 
Deferred income tax valuation allowance      (2,310,988)  (2,310,988) 

Total deferred income tax asset, net $  5,037,376 ($ 1,593,253)  ($ 3,444,123) $ - 

 

(1) Discontinued operation ($1,619,558). 

 

 

 January Other Movements December 
Deferred Income Tax asset: 1, 2019 movements  to income 31, 2019 

Tax loss carryforwards $ 1,781,396 ($ 72,201)(2)$ 458,902 $ 2,168,097 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  1,796,801  43,003(2)  (10,739)  1,829,065 

Accounts receivable deferred for tax purposes  1,386,523  (215,703)(2)  (31,734)   1,139,086 

Property, furniture, equipment and rights of use, net  247,027  42,460(2)  395,784  685,271 

Employee benefits  48,080  3,017(2)  40,932  92,029 

Other provisions  27,150    803  27,953 

Other assets  19,257  7,756(2)  25,610          52,623 
Exchange effect  -  (17,183)  17,183  - 

 $ 5,306,234 ($ 208,851) $ 896,741 $ 5,994,124 
 

Deferred ISR liability: 

Revenue to be accumulated $ 39,943    $ 8,268  $ 48,211 

Advanced payments and origination costs  780,294 $ 114,719(2)  (53,371)  841,642 
Other liabilities  53,820    13,075  66,895 

 $ 874,057 $ 114,719 ($ 32,028) $ 956,748 

Total deferred income tax asset, net $ 4,432,177 ($ 323,570) $ 928,769 $ 5,037,376 

 
(2) Discontinued operation ($306,387). 

 
The reconciliation of the legal rate of income tax and the effective rate expressed as a percentage of the profit 
before income tax is: 
 2020 2019 
 
Expected nominal rate  30%  30% 
Add (less) effect of income tax on: 
Non-deductible expenses  (4%)  921% 
Effects of inflation  (2%)  490% 
Deferred income tax allowance (affiliates)  52%  - 
Effect of difference on rate of Famsa, Inc.  -  126% 
Others  1% (3,954%) 

Effective rate  77% (2,387%) 
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As of December 31, 2020, the Company has tax loss carryforwards for income tax purposes, which will be 
indexed up to the year in which they are applied in a restated amount of: 
 

Tax Losses Mexico 
 

Tax Losses USA 

Year Incurred Year Expired 
 

Amount 
 

Year Incurred Year Expired 
 

Amount 

2011 2021 $ 36,464 
 

2001 2021 $ 0 

2012 2022 
 

8,154 
 

2002 2022 
 

137,934 

2013 2023 
 

672,248 
 

2003 2023 
 

135,857 

2014 2024 
 

1,680,043 
 

2004 2024 
 

199,839 

2015 2025 
 

663,449 
 

2005 2025 
 

83,127 

2016 2026 
 

836,662 
 

2006 2026 
 

93,072 

2017 2027 
 

1,209,757 
 

2007 2027 
 

0 

2018 2028 
 

50,042 
 

2008 2028 
 

86,407 

2019 onward 2029 onward 
 

1,771,199 
 

2009 onward 2029 onward 
 

4,853,029 

Total losses $ 6,928,018 
 

Total losses $ 5,589,265 

Losses not included in deferred tax 
 

5,541,918 
 

Losses not included in deferred tax 
 

5,589,265 

Losses included in deferred tax $ 1,386,100 
   

$ 0 

 

The Company has tax loss carryforwards in the amount of $12,517,283, which were not entirely considered for 
deferred tax, since they are considered difficult to realize, in accordance with the financial projections carried 
out by the Company. 
 

Note 26 - Discontinued operation: 

The information of the financial performance and cash flow presented for the period from January 1 to June 30, 
2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019 for discontinued operations is presented below: 
 
 
 2020 2019 
 
Revenues $ 3,483,242 $ 6,328,535 
Cost of sales  (2,045,025)  (3,942,386) 

Gross profit  1,438,217  2,386,149 
Operating expenses  (941,708)  (2,848,388) 
Impairment of the investment in subsidiary  (11,134,433)  - 
Other income, net  345,626  512,740 

Operating (loss) income  (10,292,298)  50,501 
Financial expenses  (1,610,911)  (400,018) 
Financial income  440  - 

Loss before taxes on earnings  (11,902,769)  (349,517) 
Taxes on earnings   45,925   (354,321) 

Net loss on discontinued operations ($ 11,856,844) ($ 703,838) 
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A reconciliation of the reclassification of the income (loss) of discontinued operations as of December 31, 2019 is 
presented below:  
 

 2019 Reclassification 
 previously  of the discontinued 
 reported operations 2019 
 

Total revenues $ 20,534,793 ($ 6,328,535) $ 14,206,258 
Cost of sales  (11,460,571)  3,942,386  (7,518,185) 

Gross profit  9,074,222  (2,386,149)  6,688,073 
 
Operating expenses  (8,190,858)  2,848,388  (5,342,470) 
Other income, net  690,994  (512,740)  178,254 

  (7,499,864)  2,335,648  (5,164,216) 

Operating income  1,574,358  (50,501)  1,523,857 

Financial expenses  (1,922,217)  400,018  (1,522,199) 
Financial income  367,559   -   367,559 

Financial (loss) income, net  (1,554,658)  400,018  (1,154,640) 

Income before taxes  19,700  349,517  369,217 
 
Deferred income tax  470,231   354,321   824,552 

Income from continuing operations $ 489,931 $  703,838  $ 1,193,769 
Loss on discontinued operations   -  (703,838)  (703,838) 

Consolidated net income $ 489,931 $ - $ 489,931 
 
 
Net income attributable to: 

Majority interest $ 486,885  $ - $ 486,885 
Minority interest  3,046  -  3,046 

Consolidated net income $ 489,931 $ - $ 489,931 

 
 
Note 27 - Segment information: 
 
27.1 Segment reports: 
 
The Company manages and evaluates its continuing operations through three segments: Mexico (branches 
located in national territory for the retail and financial sector), the USA (branches located abroad for retail 
sales), and Others (wholesale sales, manufacturing of furniture and catalog footwear sales).  These operating 
segments are managed jointly since the products that they handle and the markets that they sell to are similar. 
They carry out their activities through various subsidiary companies.  
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Company management uses the information of the statements of operations by segment to evaluate 
performance make general operating decisions, and allocation of resources.  The segment information to report 
is as follows: 
  2020  

 Mexico USA Others Subtotal Intersegment Consolidated 

Net sales (1) $ 5,052,463 $ 978,877 $ 324,303 $ 6,355,643  ($ 287,502) $ 6,068,141 
Interest earned from customers    506,412    506,412    506,412 

Total revenues $ 5,052,463 $ 1,485,289 $ 324,303 $ 6,862,055 ($ 287,502) $ 6,574,553 

Cost of sales  (2,749,136)  (536,953)  (275,078)  (3,561,167)  287,490  (3,273,677) 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (1,926,680)  (221,548)  40,177  (2,108,051)    (2,108,051) 

Cost of sales  (4,675,816)  (758,501)  (234,901)  (5,669,218)  287,490  (5,381,728) 

Gross profit  376,647  726,788  89,402  1,192,837  (12)  1,192,825 

Operating expenses (2)  (2,401,133)  (557,835)  (72,996)  (3,031,964)  40,491  (2,991,473) 

Other income (expenses), net  151,055  (1,339)  (44,475)  105,241  (40,731)  64,510 

Operating profit (loss) before  
depreciation and amortization  (1,873,431)  167,614  (28,069)  (1,733,886)  (252)  (1,734,138) 

Depreciation and amortization  (985,697)  (244,421)  (8,148)  (1,238,266)    (1,238,266) 

Operating profit (loss) ($ 2,859,128) ($ 76,807) ($ 36,217) ($ 2,972,152)  ($ 252) ($ 2,972,404) 
 
Additional information to report: 
Total assets $ 7,778,765 $ 4,456,516 $ 669,906 $ 12,905,187 $ 1,111,193 $ 11,793,994 

Total liabilities $ 23,557,762 $ 2,529,785 $ 259,124 $ 26,346,671 $ 1,111,193 $ 25,235,478 

Investment in fixed assets $ 18,931 $ 3,525 $ - $ 22,456 $ - $ 22,456 

UAFIRDA ($ 1,873,431) $ 167,614 ($ 28,069) ($ 1,733,886)  ($ 252) ($ 1,734,138) 
 
 
  2019  

 Mexico USA Others Subtotal Intersegment Consolidated 

Net sales (1) $ 12,395,817 $ 1,183,829 $ 894,415 $ 14,474,061  ($ 780,637) $ 13,693,424 
Interest earned from customers    512,834    512,834    512,834 

Total revenues $ 12,395,817 $ 1,696,663 $ 894,415 $ 14,986,895 ($ 780,637) $ 14,206,258 

 
Cost of sales  (6,499,691)  (653,536)  (756,279)  (7,909,506)  788,594  (7,120,912) 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (164,626)  (191,026)  (41,621)  (397,273)  -  (397,273) 

Cost of sales  (6,664,317)  (844,562)  (797,900)  (8,306,779)  788,594  (7,518,185) 

Gross profit  5,731,500  852,101  96,515  6,680,116  7,958  6,688,073 

Operating expenses (2)  (3,879,671)  (626,182)  (123,197)  (4,629,050)  60,464  (4,568,586) 

Other income (expenses), net  238,354  (3,698)  (15,981)  218,675  (40,421)  178,254 

Operating profit (loss) before  
depreciation and amortization  2,090,183  222,221  (42,663)  2,269,741  28,000  2,297,741 

Depreciation and amortization  (536,851)  (227,128)  (9,905)  (773,884)  -  (773,884) 

Operating income (loss) $ 1,553,332 ($ 4,907) ($ 52,568) $ 1,495,857  $ 28,000 $ 1,523,857 
 
 
Additional information to report: 
Total assets $ 55,466,666 $ 4,727,930 $ 761,946 $ 60,956,542 ($ 1,001,309) $ 59,955,233 

Total liabilities $ 52,057,123 $ 2,337,425 $ 262,208 $ 54,656,756 ($ 1,001,309) $ 53,655,447 

Investment in fixed assets $ 138,839 $ 6,765 $ 4,182 $ 149,786 $ - $ 149,786 

Adjusted (unaudited) UAFIRDA  $ 2,090,183 $ 222,221 ($ 42,663) $ 2,269,741  $ 28,000 $ 2,297,741 

 
(1) Net sales realized in the respective countries shown above. 
(2) Excluding depreciation or amortization. 
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Note 28 - Contingencies: 

 
a) On September 3, 2020, Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V., as an accredited related party, and the subsidiary 

Famsa México, S.A. de C.V as a subsidiary of this institution andforced solidarity entity, were 

summoned to trial, due to a commercial lawsuit, filed by Banco Multiva, Institución de Banca Múltiple 
Grupo Financiero Multiva, which was filed in the Seventeenth Civil Court of Mexico City. That lawsuit was 
answered on October 21, 2020. At this time, the process is in a trial stage. 

b) There is a contingent liability derived from employee benefits, which is mentioned in note 3.19. 

c) The Company is involved in several lawsuits and claims, derived from the normal course of its operations, 
which are expected not to have a material effect on its consolidated financial position and future 
consolidated results. 

d) In accordance with the current tax legislation, the authorities have the power to review up to five fiscal years 
prior to the last income tax return filed. 

e) In accordance with the Income Tax Law, the companies that carry out transactions with related parties are 
subject to fiscal limitations and obligations, in terms of determining the agreed prices, since these must be 
comparable to those that would be used with or between independent parties in comparable operations. 

In case the tax authorities review the prices and reject the determined amounts, they could demand, in 
addition to the collection of the corresponding tax and accessories (update and surcharges), fines on the 
omitted contributions, which could be up to 100% about the updated amount of contributions. 

f) The tax authorities initiated a direct review of some aspects of the Company's operation. As of the issue date 
of this report, the review is still in process. The Company's Management and its legal advisors do not expect 
significant additional costs to arise in this regard. 

 
Note 29 - Commitments:  

 
The majority of the subsidiary companies have entered into long-term lease agreements (some with related 
parties and others with unrelated third parties) for the real properties occupied by their stores. See Note 13. 

On November 29, 2019, a financial lease agreement was entered into between Famsa Mexico S. A. de C. V. and 
Casanova Vallejo, S.A. de C.V. for the use and temporary enjoyment of a real property. The agreement has a 
mandatory 10 year term, beginning on December 1, 2019 and terminating on November 30, 2029. 

 
Note 30 - Subsequent events: 
 

a) On January 8, 2021, the Second Civil District and Labor Court in the State of Nuevo Leon decided to 
issue the declaration of  “Concurso Mercantil” with the opening of the conciliation stage for Famsa 
México, S.A. de C.V. 

 
b) In the follow-up on the “Concurso Mercantil” procedure, on January 15, 2021, the Judge issued an 

agreement in whereby the Provisional Creditr´s List  is acknowledged as filed.  In addition, on February 
19, 2021, Grupo Famsa filed a brief to the Judge, which contains objections to the Provisional Creditor´s 
List, as result of the internal reviews carried out. 
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c) On April 13, 2021, Impulsora Promobien S.A. de C.V. (“Promobien”), a subsidiary of Grupo Famsa, 

entered into a financial factoring contract with CKD Activos 9, S.A.P.I. de C.V. In view of entering into 
this agreement, Promobien assigned collection rights to debtors and collection rights to Withholding 
Entities of credits that had been granted to its customers prior to March 26, 2020, which are listed in 
Exhibit A to the agreement referred to.  
The total consideration for the transfer of rights amounts to $74,678. 
 

d) On April 20, 2021, Famsa México, S.A. de C.V., a subsidiary of Grupo Famsa, entered into an agreement 
with CReal Nomina, S.A. de C.V. in a revolving amount of $100,000 for implementing factoring 
operations to suppliers. The duration of the agreement will expire in a 12 month period; therefore, the 
Financial Factoring Operations may only be carried out within that period. 


